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Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

DAY 01 – 31 March 2016 

 

  [9.59 am] 

 

SJH:   We have got, evidence is recorded, Ms Scott you are with Ms Sinclair 5 

for the Council? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, good morning, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Ryan, you are for the Crown. 10 

 

MR RYAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer you are for ICWT? 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And Mr Lawry, you are representing yourself, of course. 

 

MR LAWRY:   Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, we have indicated that there are a number of witnesses we did 

not want to question, I expressed concerns, we said we wanted a 

consolidated approach to this pre-trial hearing which was ignored, we 

had a telephone conference and were told that this was to bring quality 25 

of evidence, I am not sure we have that to be frank.  

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

 There is a concern when the lead planner for this process indicates that 30 

she is not able to comment on the merits; that is what a lead planner is 

there for, to be over everything and yet her evidence is caveated in that 

way. 

 

 The fact that we do not have questions for specific Council planners 35 

does not mean to say we necessarily accept their definitions, it is the 

Panel’s view that a lot of these definitions still require considerably 

more work, but we think the most efficient way of trying to sort it out, 

because even now, it is not put in a very simple form, what is accepted, 

what is not accepted – and it just continues a problem we have had 40 

from the very beginning of these Hearings I’m afraid, it is almost as if 

attention is elsewhere. 

 

 So we will have to issue a Minute and we will possibly have to get 

people back for this, but it is disappointing to say the least.  Thank you.   45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, just on that point; the Council witnesses that 

have been excused, we can make them available tomorrow if that 

would assist the Panel or we will respond- - - 

 

SJH:   That is not my point.  The lead planner should have been over all of the 5 

detail, that is why they are a lead planner on a project like this, but we 

will address questions to them and there will be questions addressed to 

you as well, Ms Scott, and if they cannot be answered we will work it 

out in a Minute that we will issue in due course, as we have been forced 

to do in a number of other Hearings. 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  I understand that you have a copy of our 

opening legal submissions? 

 

SJH:   Yes, we do. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   If I was just to explain the paper filed with that.  There is a 

Revised Proposal, there is a consolidated version the Council has 

worked to integrate Stage 2 and 3 Definitions with Decision 16, which 

was the Panel’s decision in Stage 1. 20 

 

 We have also filed three joint memoranda recording positions that have 

been reached with submitters. 

 

 The first is on the definition of hazardous substance- - - 25 

 

SJH:   That has now been agreed. 

 

MS SCOTT:   It has, sir, and you will see in that memorandum that the parties 

have agreed to a specific exemption for the liquid – the bulk liquid 30 

storage area which is within the Port Recovery Zone. 

 

 The parties have also agreed as a matter of principle, that an exemption 

is required across the entire zone but at the time of filing that 

memorandum yesterday, the specific drafting had not been worked 35 

through and the parties are continuing to do that. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The second relates to the definition of spring which has been 40 

agreed between the Council, Ngai Tahu and the Radford family. 

 

 And the third is between Orion and the Christchurch City Council and 

relates to a change to the definition of strategic infrastructure, sir. 

 45 



 Page 3 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 Turning to my written submissions; these submissions focus on the 

areas of disagreement that are remaining between the parties.  They 

discussed integration of the Stage 2/3 Council position with the Stage 1 

Decision and we also refer to outstanding matters that are being 

discussed in ongoing Hearings, in particular, Natural and Cultural 5 

Heritage, the Residential New Neighbourhood Hearing on which 

closings are due today, general written procedures and open space. 

 

 At paragraph 1.3, sir, I wish to draw your attention to two other 

documents that have been filed that have some relevance to definitions. 10 

 

 The first is an application for minor corrections to Decision 16.  For the 

Panel’s convenience we have included those minor corrections in 

appendix A to our opening legal submissions, and the pink text is 

shown for information purposes only, so that information is all in one 15 

place. 

 

 Also filed is a Memorandum of Council relating to the definitions that 

are specifically included in Plan Change 84, the Specific Purpose 

Airport Zone, Plan Change to the Operative City Plan, and we have 20 

also in that same memorandum addressed definitions that are included 

in the Plan Change. 

 

 52 which relates to Ruapuna, now that we have a decision from the 

Environment Court on those two plan changes. 25 

 

SJH:   I must confess that is the first I have heard of the Decision. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am not sure the exact date it was released, but it was recently. 

 30 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   At paragraph 1.4, the Revised Proposal is just explained further, 35 

sir, with your leave, take that as read. 

 

 Turning to the areas of disagreement.  I have already discussed the 

three memoranda that have been filed.  In terms of the specific areas in 

an attachment to these submissions and a table is set out to be specific 40 

definitions.   In terms of the areas of disagreement, the ultimately have 

flowed from areas of disagreement within chapter specific Hearings, 

and where they have not been resolved in those Hearings, they also are 

not resolved here. 

 45 
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 If I could take you to that now, sir, so that is on page – so it is 

appendix A on page 14; CIAL, there are three definitions that are 

covered in the evidence of Mr Bonis and also Council witnesses. 

 

 The first, bird strike risk activities is the subject of attention through the 5 

General Rules Hearing at the moment.  Council’s position is that a 

definition is not required but it has changed from the 

General Rules Hearings there. 

 

 Surface water management structure; the Airport seeks to delete this 10 

definition.  This definition can be deleted depending on where rules 

land in the Open Space Chapter.  So that essentially is just recording 

the position there. 

 

 In terms of trade and industry training facility; this specific exclusion 15 

that is being pursued is considered not necessary by Ms Dixon. 

 

 Mr Lawry, is pursuing the definition of “Airport Purposes”, and that is 

recorded there, Council’s position remains that there is no need for the 

definition, it has no nexus to any provision within the Proposed Plan. 20 

 

 I also note Mr Lawry filed a statement yesterday and he raises some 

concerns with the definition of Critical Infrastructure and 

Strategic Infrastructure, and will hear from on that. 

 25 

 Hands Off Hagley; the definition of temporary activity in buildings.   I 

understand that that definition is agreed except the extent that Hands 

off Hagley seek three changes.  Again, has been the subject of 

discussions in General Rules.  Council’s decision has not changed on 

that, and Ms McLaughlin is the relevant Council witness on that one. 30 

 

 And then Isaacs Wildlife Conservation Trust; the evidence from 

Ms Seaton for the Trust, falls back on two subsequent Hearings, the 

Rural Hearing and the Open Space Hearing.  The Trust concern is that 

the clarifications made to the definitions are in this Hearing, effect the 35 

position that has been reached in those other two Hearings, and in 

particular in the absence of one rule relating to consent required within 

one kilometre for shooting, where the Council has raised scope issues. 

 

 I just note, on that, that yesterday the Panel accepted a late further 40 

submission from three submitters, the Handloaders, the Pistol Club and 

one other that escapes me, and I can advise that the Trust, the Council 

and those submitters, are meeting on Monday to discuss their concerns. 

 

 Their concerns does relate to the additional rule sought by the Trust but 45 

it also relates to the wider relief being pursued by the Trust. 
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 To add to that, I have had discussions with my friend for the Trust and 

we had discussed how there are some changes that are required to the 

rules within the Rural Zone and the Open Space Zone, to ensure that 

the Trust’s position remains as has been agreed or put forward in those 5 

Hearings - - - 

 

SJH:   One thing that was not clear from that memo – and I am just asking the 

question because this stuff, is not something that I have been involved, 

I excused myself on – but I am simply asking the question; were those 10 

gun clubs, to put it loosely, there before the Trust started its 

conservation work or not? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I understand that is the case. 

 15 

SJH:   Not sure? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, you might better direct that question elsewhere. 

 

  [10.10 am] 20 

 

SJH:   All right.  Well, it is just something that needs to be considered I think - 

- - 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes - - - 25 

 

SJH:   - - - discussions. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you, sir.  I also wish to record that in terms of those 

two other hearings, open space closing submissions are still to come, 30 

the Council will be addressing this further in the Open Space.   

 

 In terms of any minor change that might be required to the Rural rules, 

closing submissions have been filed for that hearing but there may be a 

need for a joint memorandum to be filed between the Trust and the 35 

Council recording that change. 

 

SJH:   That would be useful. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 40 

 

 Just finally over the page the definition of “late night”; this definition 

came about by original definition of Pacific Park seeking a definition of 

“late night sale of alcohol”, it has been refined to “late night”.  

 45 
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 My understanding is that Pacific Park is no longer pursuing this 

definition.  They have withdrawn their notice of cross-examination and 

the evidence suggests that submissions have been filed on behalf of 

CDHB opposing the inclusion of the definition but, as recorded in that 

table, the Victoria Neighbourhood Association are encouraging its 5 

inclusion in the plan. 

 

 So from that table, sir, it is quite clear that these definitions have come 

out of unresolved matters, some are continuing, and I have in my 

submissions set out in section 4 the ongoing work streams that are of 10 

relevance.   

 

 If I can briefly take you through these, sir, residential new 

neighbourhood, the council’s closing submissions are due today but the 

latest amendments to the definitions are included in appendix A before 15 

you, the revised proposal.  I have referred to the definition of “outline 

development plan” just to confirm the Council’s position on that as 

recorded in a memorandum filed in that hearing and the Council’s 

position is that the outline development plan definition should strictly 

be used when an ODP is used for a greenfield priority area as shown on 20 

map A of the RPS.   

 

 That position means that some subsequent changes will be needed to be 

made to appendices that refer to “outline development plan” and need 

to be replaced with “development plan”, that is something that is 25 

continuing in the context of that hearing.  I also mention here the 

definitions, the MED definitions that are in the replacement district 

plan.  The Panel has invited further submissions on the Panel’s powers 

to remove some of the MED definitions and that is work in progress 

and submissions will be filed with you to encourage that consolidation.   30 

 

 General rules and procedures, the hearing adjourned last week, we just 

record there some of the matters that are in dispute, obviously the 

airport related definitions which I refer to.  There are some sign related 

definitions that have been tabled through exhibits in that hearing and 35 

there is also one specific definition relating to “primary building 

frontage” which is subject to ongoing mediation in that context. 

 

 And, finally, guest accommodation, the Council and the Commodore 

Airport Hotel are discussing that. 40 

 

 Turning to Natural and Cultural Heritage; set out there the current state 

of each of the work streams, with your leave I won’t take you through 

that, sir, but essentially the definitions that are within the scope of the 

Natural and Cultural Heritage Hearing are being discussed through the 45 

various mediations which are ongoing in that context. 
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 Finally, open space, the Council’s closing submissions, as I have 

mentioned, haven’t yet been filed and the Trust’s submission will be 

considered in those closing submissions. 

 5 

 Sir, just jumping back to section 3, for the Panel’s assistance we have 

set out there the jurisdiction in which the Panel can revisit Decision 16, 

you are well familiar with that and, sir, it is just set out there for your 

benefit but the Council supports the Panel’s use of that power in order 

to ensure that the final Definitions Chapter is integrated and aligned 10 

with the entire Replacement District Plan.   

 

 At paragraph 3.11 we set out there some specific matters of integration, 

three general categories and that the purpose of that, sir, is to show that 

some of the changes there is no need for the Panel to use its 15 

clause 13.6(a) power, they are all considered to be minor. 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 In terms of the Council’s recommendations that some Decision 16 20 

decisions should be deleted or partially deleted, if you could just move 

down to underneath (c), set out there is some additional subcategories 

just to identify that the changes are considered to be of minor effect.  

There is one which I have mentioned at paragraph 3.12 and that is the 

integration of the stage 1 definition of temporary buildings and 25 

activities with stage 2 and 3. 

 

 I have identified there that there are some differences in that definition 

that may possibly not fall within a change of minor effect.  

Unfortunately, sir, I don’t have a solution for you at this time but we 30 

are looking at that further, I just wish to highlight that.  The Council 

certainly doesn’t want to have to notify the new definition but we are 

working through that particular one. 

 

 Turning to section 5, I refer there to the Crown’s opening submissions 35 

where they have suggested that the Panel provide an opportunity for the 

definitions proposal to be subject to a final review and refinement.  

There is two sub-elements to this, the first is that it would no doubt be 

of assistance to the Panel to get a final revised proposal once the other 

work streams are complete. 40 

 

 The second is once the Panel has issued all of its decisions on stage 2 

and 3 the Council considers, and the Crown supports, the opportunity 

for a wider review of the proposal to ensure that any final matters of 

integration can be included in the Panel’s decision.   45 
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SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Finally, at paragraph 6, I simply list the Council’s witnesses, the 

ones in bold are the ones that we will be calling this morning.  I note 

that Ms Hogan, who covered rural and natural and cultural heritage, 5 

wasn’t included in our application to be excused because at that time 

we had had understood another counsel had questions for her, however 

are still happy to call Ms Hogan if there is any questions she may assist 

with. 

 10 

 Mr Blair was also listed in the hazardous substances memorandum 

which was filed yesterday evening and I understand has been excused 

but again he is here and more than happy to call him to respond to any 

questions.  He also covers some of the general rules matters such as 

signs which are being considered in the general rules hearing. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, I am happy to answer any questions. 

 20 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott, just a couple of matters.  If we go to appendix B 

areas of disagreement please; if you could help me here but my 

understanding is several of these in this list have to remain contingent 25 

until we make our substantive decisions on related chapters, is that how 

you see it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, it is, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And would those include the first one, bird strike, the 

second one as well as given the comments on the right hand side? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, it may assist if I clarify that we have listed these in this 

appendix because evidence has been filed and is before you in this 35 

hearing.  So in addition to the matters that are outstanding in General 

Rules, Natural And Cultural Heritage, Open Space and Residential 

New Neighbourhood evidence is before you and those witnesses are 

coming along unless they have been excused specifically - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it is not so much, the purpose of my question was 

really to test whether this is an example of what the Crown is referring 

to as well as areas where in definitions inherently we can’t make 

anything too definitive by way of decision on final words until we have 

reached decisions on the substantive chapters that these relate to.   45 
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 And I am wondering whether in that sense I am right in identifying the 

first two and whether the other ones on that would be the temporary 

activity and buildings one, recreation activity and major sports facility 

and late night, are there any other ones I have missed, those seemed all 

to relate to Open Space or General Rules or things on which we had 5 

had previous hearings? 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, that is absolutely correct.   Yes, and they are subject on 10 

the Panel’s decisions on the merits of the substance of the chapters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, sorry, sir, just one other matter.   

 

 So, in terms of the process by which these definitions were formulated; 15 

was it the case which say a particular planner in a certain area would 

put forward a definition that was simply incorporated into the general 

set of definitions or was there some process by which a lead author 

actually reviewed or scrutinised that drafting before it went into what is 

in front of us? 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, just to clarify your question, so you are talking about the 

Revised Proposal, not at notification? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am talking about the definitions in front of us and 25 

the comment made in your submissions reserving the extent to which 

Ms Sowerby can assist us on the merits. 

 

 And, for instance, I had one question which I was wanting to put to 

Ms Sowerby on the assumption that she was the lead author until I read 30 

your submissions this morning where, in fact, the idea comes from 

Mr Blair and what I wanted to know in regard to his idea on building 

and how that should be changed whether it was a case of Mr Blair 

coming forward with a definition and it was simply incorporated into a 

master list without any audit or scrutiny by either legal counsel or the 35 

lead planner, is that correct? 

 

MS SCOTT:   So, sir, just to explain, the submissions have been allocated to 

the chapter in which they are most directly related. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The definitions have? 

 

MS SCOTT:   The submission.  So, for example, the Trust’s submission on a 

definition was first allocated - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, all right, so just hold on, Ms Scott.   
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 If I am looking at a definition and it is a recommendation to us to 

change the definition of building and that recommended change comes 

through Ms Sowerby’s lead evidence and the attachment to that and 

your submissions, so who drafted that change?  Was it Ms Sowerby or 5 

Mr Blair or someone else? 

 

MS SCOTT:   The change is referenced in the definition and is linked back to 

the specific statement of evidence - - - 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Who drafted it? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Mr Blair, in your example, would have made that change. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was it, would it have been by Ms Sowerby or legal 15 

counsel before it ended up in the master list or did it just get cobbled 

together? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, so Ms Sowerby essentially managed that process and in 

each of the statements of evidence each Council witness has recorded 20 

that they have read the Revised Proposal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, when I ask Ms Sowerby about building, she will be 

able to help me? 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   In terms of the merits, it is Mr Blair - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, will Ms Sowerby be able to help me on all matters 

I have questions about concerning the definition? 

 30 

SJH:   Or alternatively, counsel? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am not sure she will on the merits, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, I do not know what “the merits” mean.  I mean, we 

have got a definition here; it has got certain words in it, I see certain 

legal flaws in those words, I want to ask somebody about them; who do 

I ask? 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Well, you can ask Ms Sowerby, she is called first. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, I will do that. 

 45 



 Page 11 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

MS SCOTT:   And Mr Blair is also here if you want to put those same 

questions to him. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I want you to tell me which of those witnesses I 

should ask. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   I would ask Mr Blair, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 10 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just a couple of initial questions. 

 

 On the question of temporary activities and buildings, or temporary 15 

buildings and activities, you highlighted that there are some differences 

in the meaning of those definitions from Stage 1 and Stage 2 & 3, and I 

certainly have picked up that there are potentially quite significant, 

potentially significant changes in the meaning between them and it also 

relates to another activity and residential care of non-resident children 20 

and it relates to a lot of decisions we have already made in Residential 

and Industrial, for example, Commercial and Industrial. 

 

 So, are you saying that the Council has not really reached a position on 

what it is asking us to do about those two definitions yet? 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   Essentially, yes.  The Panel’s ability to revisit its earlier decision 

without notifying a new Proposal is, of course, limited by clause 13 of 

the Order in Council which says it must be a change of minor effect. 

 30 

 In terms of that one particular definition as you have recognised - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I am getting muddled.  I am getting muddled between 

preschools and temporary, sorry, temporary, it is Decision 6, I think, on 

Chapter 6, 3 and 9, I get – so, sorry, keep going. 35 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so that definition was notified in Stage 1 because as you 

have identified Zones Specific Chapters use it so it was required to be 40 

notified.  Its true home is Chapter 6 and you are considering it in that 

context. 

 

 There is a Stage 1 decision on it and - - - 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   This is Stage 1 and a Stage 2 decision both on Chapter 6 

related to Temporary? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, in terms of Stage 2 and 3 this hearing and the position that 

has been reached in the General Rules Hearing, there are some 5 

differences between that Stage 1 and that Stage 2 and 3 definition that 

are more than a minor effect. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Potentially, yes. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Potentially, so I cannot stand here and submit to you that we can 

simply just wrap them together. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I mean should I ask Ms McLaughlin who is down to 

come and who dealt with the latest part of the Chapter 6, in General 15 

Rules; should I ask her to remind me about why she is suggesting the 

changes between the Stage 1 definition and the Stage 2? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that would be helpful. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   So, the next one which I slightly got muddled about and 

overlapped, is preschools. 

 

 Again, there are a number of references, there is the preschools 

definition and then preschool activity and preschool facility and they 25 

have come up through the changes that Council is seeking to the 

Decision 16 and again, there seem to be substantive changes in terms of 

the number of children who can be looked after that would go back into 

other decisions that we have made and that still seems to be floating in 

terms of this latest Revised Proposal as to what Council’s position is 30 

and what they are asking us to do with our previous decisions in 

relation to preschools. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so in the application for corrections, there is some 

discussion, it is on page 49 of that, for the record, about the definition 35 

of preschool.   

 

 What has happened there is that through the Stages there has been a 

slight difference and it goes back to the definition in the Education Act 

as to the number of non-resident children who would fall within the 40 

activities that can be in - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And the difference there is essentially one child. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Or it could be two depending on - - - 

 

MS SCOTT:   Or two but in terms of the Council’s position, it is that the 

Stage 1 definition be deleted in favour of the Stage 2 definition.  The 

Stage 2 version aligns with the definition under the Education Act. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   What I have seen though is that by doing that there is now an 

inconsistency with some of the Residential Decision where the care of 

non-resident children was a separate activity until the threshold that 

preschool started and now that is not quite aligned anymore so it would 10 

require us to go back and start changing the Residential Decisions. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is that what you are going to put to us to do? 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and we have listed the rules that it affects in that comment 

A74 and we have recognised that there will be a crossover in those 

rules.  The Council’s position is it is a change of minor effect and we 

can specifically request the Panel use its powers and to cause 13 to 20 

make that change. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And then one last question, on Outline Development Plans 

which has come through recently from the RNN zone, I notice in the 

very latest one that we got this morning, there is a new definition been 25 

brought in. 

 

 In your opening legal submissions you talked about the fact that this 

definition is specifically to apply to those areas that are Greenfield 

priority areas in Map A in the RPS so it may be whoever is going to, 30 

somebody is going to talk to me about this, maybe Ms Sowerby could 

address me on whether that aspect should be incorporated into the 

definition because otherwise I am not sure that it comes through clearly 

enough.  I mean, in the future, will people know and remember that that 

definition is just to be applied in relation to the Greenfield priority 35 

areas? 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

 40 

 I mean, perhaps it is adequately covered in the policies or the rules, but 

I am just wondering whether that aspect which everyone is agreed 

about, should be part of the definition of the Outlying Development 

Plan, as to distinguish it from the other development plan areas? 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   My understanding on that is that the subsequent changes that the 

Council will be asking the Panel to change, which is to change 

terminology that is, outlying development plan to just development 

plan, so that that definition is separated out and only refers to the 

greenfield priority areas. 5 

 

 My understanding is that was the purpose of the change in the 

definition.   It has not quite got there, I will take your comments on 

board. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   I think the definition is fine as it stands, it just does not 

mention at all and therefore and only to the greenfield priority areas, 

that is just left in peoples’ memory, and I am just conscious of things 

like how the Living G zone evolved over many, many years, and the 

Outlying Development Plan is coming along in the future, and they 15 

might really be development plans, but someone will call them outline 

development plan if it is not very clearly mentioned in the definition 

itself. 

 

 It may have been covered in some other way, I just would like someone 20 

to think about that please. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And we will thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you – thank you, very much. 25 

 

SJH:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 

 30 

SJH:   Ms Scott, look I am sorry, I need to go back to the first question put to 

you by Judge Hassan because it was only answered at best partially. 

 

 These definitions as notified were done by the various chapter leads, is 

that correct? 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And any submissions on the definitions were referred to those chapter 

leads? 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   They were, sir. 

 

SJH:   And Ms Southey managed that process? 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, she did. 
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SJH:   As part of that, did she audit or engage in any discussion around the 

quality of the drafting of those changes that have been undergone in 

this process or not? 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, she endeavoured to ensure that there was consistency in 

drafting across the various definitions, where a chapter lead proposed a 

change and she recognised that it was relevant to other chapters, she 

would direct that change to those chapter leaders to ensure they were 

aware of it and were comfortable with it in the context of their specific 10 

chapters. 

 

SJH:   And was there overlying that, that a group of senior people within the 

planning department that looked at these things? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Ms Sowerby will be able to answer that question, sir. 

 

SJH:   So Ms Sowerby will be able to tell us, for example, why the definition 

relating to building and fencing, the changes appear on the surface to 

create more problems than they were designed to address; she will be 20 

able to tell us that, and how that was considered and resolved within the 

process? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, you can put that question to her. 

 25 

SJH:   And has legal Counsel gone through these with the same level of 

scrutiny? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, we have to our best endeavours in the time available. 

 30 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Mr Ryan, we have read your opening,  you wish to speak to it. 

 

MR RYAN:   Thank you, sir, yes, I only intended to speak to my openings very 35 

briefly this morning. 

 

 The short point at paragraph 4 is that there are no specific outstanding 

issues remaining between the Council and the Crown on any specific 

definitions. 40 

 

 From paragraph 6, I briefly noted the small number of issues addressed 

by Ms Barker in her evidence and how those issues have been 

subsequently resolved – I do not intend to take you through those in 

detail, sir, but just to round out two of those issues in particular. 45 
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 At paragraph 13 I have referred there to a proposed definition of the 

term “temporary military training activities”, and sir, I can confirm that 

the Revised Proposal filed by the Council late last night does include 

that definition and the Crown supports that. 

 5 

 And the only other matter, sir, is the definition on the term “Hazardous 

Substances” which my friend, Ms Scott spoke to you about.  And 

again, I can confirm, that the definition put forward by the parties in the 

joint memorandum dated yesterday, is reflected in the Revised Proposal 

filed last night. 10 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

 And I would reiterate, sir, what that joint memorandum records, which 

is that in principle, the Crown and the other parties do consider it would 15 

be appropriate for those exclusions to apply to the entire Port zone.  

Unfortunately there is some difficulty in coming up with drafting that 

makes that work, and so the Crown supports the parties continuing to 

work on that. 

 20 

 And just finally, sir, just turning from paragraph 22 in my submissions. 

 

 Again, as Ms Scott mentioned, fundamentally, sir, the Crown would 

support a final review of the entire definitions proposal, that would be 

both Stage 1 and Stage 2 in three definitions, and I would record, sir, 25 

that as Revised Proposals have been provided by the Council, the 

Crown’s view is that they are improving in quality, but given the nature 

of the process and the fact that there are a number of other proposals 

still to be finally determined, my submission, sir, is that the definitions 

chapter cannot be finally tidied up, if you will, until other decisions 30 

have been made. 

 

SJH:   I think there is two matters.  The first one is that matters are not subject 

to decisions yet to be delivered, which we may find it necessary to 

issue a Minute on as I indicated earlier, obviously a similar type 35 

process will need to be undertaken, I think, to ensure consistency when 

those decisions are issued and then I think as part of a wash-up of this 

thing, we are going to have to look, as a Panel, at the whole plan 

including definitions to ensure alignment with consistency et cetera, et 

cetera.  40 

 

MR RYAN:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   That is something that we need to stage and manage using our powers 

under the Order in Council. 45 
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MR RYAN:   Yes, sir.  With respect I would support that, approach, the Crown 

supports the approach and is more than happy to assist and in fact, 

would appreciate the opportunity to be involved in that process. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, I will just see if there are any questions.  Judge. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   No thank you. 

 

MR NEILL:   No. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Ryan, Ms Limmer. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I am not down to present opening submissions today, but I 

can address the Panel if that would assist.  

 

SJH:   Sorry, no, I thought you were down for today so that is all right.  We 20 

will just go straight to the first witness, Ms Sowerby please. 

 

MS SCOTT:    Thank you, sir, I call Ms Janine Sowerby. 

 

25 
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<JANINE ELIZABETH SOWERBY, affirmed [10.37 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.38 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, if you could confirm your full name is Janine 5 

Elizabeth Sowerby? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this Hearing, 10 

the first dated 24 February 2016, the second statement and rebuttal 

dated 10 March 2016? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   You are a senior policy planner at the Christchurch City 

Council.  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your 

evidence? 

 

  [10.40 am] 20 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, I do.  This is my evidence-in-chief, on page 4, 

paragraph 5.7, I would like to explicitly include that I take into account 

the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan, and on page 8, paragraph 4.4, a 

change is required to two numbers in the far right hand column, would 25 

you please swap the No. 6 and 7 in relation to the Plan Information 

Management, Land Use Recovery Plan and Christchurch Central 

Recovery Plan. 

 

SJH:   So introduce through LURP becomes 6 and introduce through CCRP 30 

become 7? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Also in appendix 3 which is on page 28, please delete from 

the table the row staring with the Definitions, building consent platform 

- - - 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, what was that number? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Page 28. 

 

SJH:   Appendix? 45 
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MS SOWERBY:   Appendix 3, sir.  It is actually after - - - 

 

SJH:   Well the appendices- - - 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, after the Revised Proposal, but before the 5 

(INDISTINCT 1.22). 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could just repeat that correction please. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Certainly.   With respect to the definitions building consent 10 

platform and footprint of the building, if you could please delete those 

and I will explain the reasons for that later in my highlights package.  

So that is deletion of the complete rows. 

 

 In relation to my rebuttal evidence, in paragraph 3.2, my apologies, 15 

there are no page numbers inserted. 

 

 Over the page, in the second line of the definition there, it should start 

with “Means land and/or buildings.” 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where does that go? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Sir, that is in paragraph 3.2 of the rebuttal evidence, just 

over the page.  Just immediately at the top. 

 25 

 So it means “land and/or buildings.” 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   With those corrections, Ms Sowerby, can you please confirm 30 

your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, if you could present your highlights package and 35 

remain seated for any questions from the Panel. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   My name is Janine Sowerby, and I hold the position of 

senior policy planner at the Christchurch City Council. 

 40 

 I have led the development, primarily of the collation and integration of 

the definitions proposal, throughout the proposed Replacement District 

Plan process. 
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 I have been asked by the Council to give general overview evidence in 

relation to the definitions proposal which was prepared in parts and 

notified over the three stages of the proposed District Plan. 

 

 I do not deal with the substance of the definitions, their application and 5 

their context or the implication of amendments to them. 

 

 This has been addressed by development chapter leaders in their 

evidence. 

 10 

 The definitions proposal ensures certain and consistent interpretation of 

the rules throughout the Proposed Replacement District Plan.  It does 

this through reconciliation of the existing definitions of which there 

were 328 in total, and the Operative Christchurch City and Banks 

Peninsula District Plans by providing new definitions necessary. 15 

 

 Existing issues identified by users with the existing definitions 

including by excluding any content of a regulatory nature more 

appropriately located in the rules. 

 20 

 Giving effect to and ensuring consistency with relevant legislation and 

Higher Order documents including Chapter 6 of the Regional Policy 

Statement and Christchurch Central and Land Use Recovery Plans, 

making the proposed Replacement District Plan more user friendly by 

explaining the extended meaning and in some cases, their abbreviations 25 

of terms developed specifically for and used in the Plan. 

 

 (INDISTINCT 4.38) definitions at the beginning of the Plan and 

enabling access to them within the body of the Plan by electronic 

hyperlinks for ease of use and to encourage use. 30 

 

 Identifying the other defined terms on which each definition relies, 

only relied definitions, to assist their interpretation and illustrate the 

interrelationship between some definitions. 

 35 

 Ensuring consistency between definitions, their interpretation and their 

used across the stages. 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 40 

 A) the correct identification and naming of them where appropriate in 

the context. 

 

 Rationalising the extent of the definitions while recognising that some 

similar or conflicting definitions reflect certain circumstances and need 45 

to remain location specific, for example. 
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 And finally, assisting plan users by directing them to documents 

outside of but referenced in definitions through electron hyperlinks in 

the Plan. 

 5 

 In terms of changes made in response to submissions, the Council has 

agreed to amendments to the Definitions Proposal.  A number of these 

changes have been endorsed by the Panel through its Stage 1 Decision.  

The key changes illustrated in the latest updated Revised Proposal 

lodged with legal submissions are:- 10 

 

 It now starts with a list of abbreviations used in the Plan and has been 

renamed “Chapter 2 Abbreviations and Definitions” accordingly. 

 

 I note there was the ability to update to definitions after the final 15 

Revised Proposal’s ongoing Hearings are filed. 

 

 It is then to the numerous definitions have been made where considered 

necessary. 

 20 

 A reduction of the total number of definitions notified from 538 to 

approximately 480, the majority of which provide a single generally 

applicable definition, all of which are now contained in the Definitions 

Chapter. 

 25 

 All definitions including the light definitions, are now identified in a 

consistent manner throughout the Plan, i.e., in situ and once operative, 

via green font underlining and electronic hyperlinking. 

  

 Outstanding issues; outstanding definitions and relating to issues to be 30 

addressed are: definitions decided in Stage 1 that may need to be 

revisited by the Panel either to correct errors in Decision 16, the subject 

of a separate application to the Panel or to address duplication arising 

from the release of Decision 16 through proposed integration related 

amendments considered necessary to achieve the best single generally 35 

applicable definition. 

 

 There are approximately 60 definitions to be revisited and respective 

reasons why, are listed in schedule A of the Council’s memorandum to 

the Panel dated 18 March 2016. 40 

 

 Stage 2 and 3 definitions are not in dispute and these have been set out 

in the Council’s opening submissions. 

 

 Integration of the definitions are still in discussion with respect to the 45 

General Rules and Procedures and the Natural and Cultural Hazards 
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Proposals, the latter of which have been listed in schedule C of the 

Council’s memo to the Panel dated 18 March. 

 

 Identification of any further additions and abbreviations for which I 

have compiled and can provide a list. 5 

 

 Identification of the remaining MED related definitions which may 

need to be deleted, which I understand will be addressed separately to 

this Hearing by legal Counsel, and also an updated of the relied 

definitions as a result. 10 

 

 Finally, I would like to explain the correction I made to evidence-in-

chief where in appendix 3 I have deleted the definitions of building 

consent platform and footprint of the buildings from a table. 

 15 

 In paragraph 10.1 on page 15 of that same evidence, I discuss the 

deletion or relocation of embedded definitions under the Definitions 

Proposal as required. 

 

 In hindsight, relocation of the subject wording for both building 20 

consent platform and footprint of the building is considered 

unnecessary, and retention in the associated rules is recommended.  

This is because the text does not actually define what a building 

consent platform or footprint of a building is but it merely clarifies their 

extent. 25 

 

 Retaining this clarification with accepted building consent platform 

would also be consistent, with a similar clarification confirmed by the 

Panel in Decision 6 with respect to rule 5.3.2.3 in the Natural Hazards 

Proposal. 30 

 

 The associated references in the residential building platform definition 

have been corrected accordingly in the Revised Proposal. 

 

 I am happy to answer questions including if the Panel wishes to further 35 

clarify Ms Scott’s answer in terms of your question, Commissioner 

Hasson. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill. 

 40 

MR NEILL:   Ms Sowerby, my question is you have talked about all 

definitions are in a consistent manner and it is the use of the words 

“which include” and then you give a series of examples. 

 

  [10.50 am] 45 
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 But you have used in some cases “including”, “to include” “include” 

and the same with the issue of excluding you have used different tenses 

and different matters including “may include on certain 

circumstances”.  Will there be a review of that to have that all 

consistent throughout the definitions? 5 

 

MS SOWERBY:   There could be through a response to decisions that come 

out if the Panel wishes that to happen.  In terms of being consistent in 

format if they want it to be that consistent in format then potentially we 

could go back and review and make sure that the tense of the particular 10 

word used is consistent throughout. 

 

MR NEILL:   Well, in the area of rural activity it has used the words “may 

include” but in other areas it refers to “and includes”, is there are a 

difference? 15 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I think in the example of “may include” the “may” is 

probably superfluous, it either includes or it doesn’t. 

 

MR NEILL:   And is there a difference between using the word “including” as 20 

opposed to “includes”? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I don’t believe so. 

 

MR NEILL:   So why aren’t they consistent? 25 

 

MS SOWERBY:   They were made consistent to the extent that it was possible 

to do so at the time.  Obviously definitions using those words were 

coming in at different times and perhaps that particular issue wasn’t 

always at the forefront of my mind when they came in. 30 

 

MR NEILL:   Well, all I ask is that they be consistent with each other. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Certainly that is the desirable result, yes. 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Sowerby.  So I have got a few general 40 

questions and I have got some definitions I want to ask you about, and 

if you think that one of the witnesses coming up can answer in more 

depth then please do say. 

 

 My first comment is thank you for your idea or whoever’s idea it was 45 

to change the reliant definitions to being hyperlinked within the 
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definitions, I think that looks much tidier and is more consistent across 

the plan, so thank you for the help that you have done in doing that and 

the amendments that are then needed to the Stage 1 decision, that looks 

good. 

 5 

 You mentioned the list of abbreviations because I noticed you noted 

that that is possible, so if you have a list I think that would be helpful, if 

there are other abbreviations that are used they may as well be in the 

list seeing we don’t have that in front of us. 

 10 

MS SOWERBY:   I can provide that to you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, or you through Ms Scott. 

 

 The other question is, and you refer to it in your evidence about the fact 15 

that the Panel’s decisions on the provisions to date of the various 

chapters don’t include the hyperlinking or not hyperlinking of defined 

words and I think you mentioned that the Council could possibly assist 

with - - - 

 20 

MS SOWERBY:   I think it wasn’t so much the hyperlinking because the 

hyperlinking is something that is done through the actual e-Plan, it is 

more the identification of the definitions and their context by way of 

the green font and the underlining. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is what I meant, sorry.  Yes, so we haven’t tended 

to do that in our printed version but we haven’t also made decisions to 

amend what the Council had put forward either.  So if in due course 

that assistance can come through the Panel I think that is something 

that needs tidying up in the long run. 30 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, I have actually prepared what is effectively a list of 

instructions to assist the substantive chapter leaders to correctly 

identify the definitions in that context. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Well, in due course that can come back through the Panel, 

thank you also for that.  With the chapter 9 definitions and even in the 

other chapters that are still being considered, particularly chapter 9 

because there was a lot of them but whether it is the open space or the 

general rules will you still remain an overarching chapter leader for 40 

making sure they are integrated and that nothing falls through the gaps 

with that process? 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 45 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 



 Page 26 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you for that. 

 

 So now just onto my more substantive questions and I am still tending 

to refer to the 16 March version though I have tried to update it with 5 

the revised version that came in yesterday. 

 

 I want to ask you about the words “ancillary” and “accessory”; now 

with “ancillary” the Panel made a decision about "ancillary” as part of 

its stage 1 decision.  In the latest version have you just retained that 10 

decision and not – because I think in the 16 March there was still 

another definition of “ancillary” in there in grey text, but which 

decision of “ancillary” is in the latest version from the Council? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   My understanding, and Ms Scott may be able to assist if that 15 

is possible, is that in terms of the use of “ancillary” in a number of the 

definitions and the application of “ancillary” itself within the 

provisions, the substantive chapter leaders were relying more on the 

definition as it was initially proposed in the plan as opposed to how it 

was worded in Decision 16 so I believe that - - - 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, maybe that is something Ms Scott needs to address us 

on as to what – have you read the decision, the actual decision - - - 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - where really the dictionary definition of “ancillary” 

which therefore isn’t in the text? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, it may be that in the event that the determined 30 

definition in Decision 16 is inappropriate in the context then the 

chapter leaders will rely on just the plain English version of “ancillary”. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is what the decision intended.  So perhaps that is 

something that needs to, because at the moment there are two 35 

definitions still in the text and one of which is the decision and the 

other is a greyed out version that is still to be decided.   

 

 So my next question is the word “ancillary” and “accessory” are used a 

lot.  I mean sometimes in the title of other defined terms, sometimes 40 

within the definitions themselves, sometimes both words “accessory” 

and “ancillary” are used in the same definition. 

 

 Are you able to explain whether the Council sees a different meaning in 

those two words or whether you have deliberately used “accessory” 45 

sometimes and “ancillary” in other times and sometimes both? 
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MS SOWERBY:   Certainly, perhaps in order to answer this question I need to 

go back and to some extent answer your question, commissioner.  It 

was the job of the substantive chapter leaders to firstly identify whether 

a definition was required in context.  Once they had done that they 5 

would draft what that was and they would also ultimately justify that in 

their section 32 but once they had drafted it they would then forward it 

to me.  

 

 I would review it really for two reasons, just to make sure, to bring a 10 

second pair of eyes to it to make sure that it was readable, it was 

understandable and the only input I then had into it was amendments to 

improve the wording, the syntax, the grammar so that it was clear, 

understandable and easy to use.  And the other reason for me reviewing 

it and suggesting amendments to the substantive chapter leader was to 15 

align it with any other relevant existing definitions.   

 

 You are correct in that both “ancillary” and “accessory” are used in 

various definitions either one or the other or both.  To my mind they 

are different terms.  In fact I kept this dictionary definition of what 20 

those two were to make sure that they were either used in their 

appropriate context and to suggest changes where perhaps one of them 

was being used when in fact I thought the other one should have 

perhaps been used.  So if they are there differently at the moment then I 

believe it is deliberate. 25 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   And so where this might say accessory and ancillary, it is 

deliberate that both aspects are used. 30 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So would you like to read out your definition of “accessory”. 

 35 

MS SOWERBY:   Right: “a thing that can be added to something else in order 

to make it more useful, versatile or attractive” – as opposed to ancillary 

which is “providing necessary support to the primary activity for the 

operation of an organisation, institution, industry or system.” 

 40 

 So one of them is more almost mandatory, I suppose, I guess. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, one is more additive, and the other is more incidental or 

supportive? 

 45 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, so that has been your position in terms of looking at 

those. 

 

 All right, well, thank you for that. 5 

 

 I have a just got a couple of examples here where rules have sort of 

seemed to have crept within the definitions and I accept that from what 

I have seen that maybe that is something that you have tried to avoid 

and I think others have given evidence about that over time.   10 

 

 There are a couple and it maybe that Ms Dixon and Ms Carter can 

maybe pick up on what I say now.  One of them is the amendment to 

the definition of the Air/Noise Boundary where a specific reference to 

prohibition has crept into the definition by agreement, I think, with 15 

CIAL and maybe Ms Dixon can answer my question on that. 

 

 And the second one is the definition of “event” which I think Ms Carter 

refers, to but is it your position that as far as possible aspects of an 

activity that might be more in the nature of a rule should be left to the 20 

rules to distinguish as opposed to embedded in the definition 

themselves? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   That has been my position, yes, and as you say, I have tried 

to wheedle those out although I am conscious there are still a couple 25 

that include content of the nature of the rule and another one that I am 

aware of is “sleepout” – there is something in there as well. 

 

 So, potentially, if the Panel wishes I could review all of the definitions 

and try and identify any other areas that might have - - - 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Some of my questions here are things that we cannot resolve 

today, but I suppose I am raising them now so that everybody has heard 

them and then they are matters that – I mean, we are clearly going to 

have to come back at some stage – so they are things that could be 35 

looked at.  They do not necessarily change the essence of the definition 

but the wording of them. 

 

 There are some other definitions that have broad meaning but have 

been defined for only one chapter but when you look at the definition 40 

or even though you know that it has come out of the Utilities Chapter, 

for example, and probably several of them have come out of that 

chapter, when you read the definition it has a much broader meaning.  

It does not say “for the purposes of Chapter 11” and a couple of them, 

just as examples, would be “ancillary equipment” and “mast” and both 45 

of those have very broad meaning in relation to, I think, mast is in 
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relation to holding up antennae or something, but when you look at the 

definition of building and height, it could easily apply to a flagpole.   

 

 So, has your philosophy been that where a particular definition is 

needed for a particular chapter that it be confined to that chapter where 5 

there is a danger that it might inadvertently spill over into another 

chapter? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   There are certainly definitions that have been restricted to a 

particular chapter or particular rule, a particular topic area just to make 10 

it more specific.  The application of that principle to other definitions 

that were generated specific to a chapter which could, in the absence of 

such a restriction, be applied elsewhere has not really been done 

deliberately but I could see there would be a benefit in doing that. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   I think it would be quite to just have an overview to make 

sure that something that the chapter leader in their mind knows that it is 

only for their chapter or about the words that they used and then the 

definition broadly expressed and, therefore, could cause confusion 

when those same words are picked up elsewhere. 20 

 

 Thank you for sorting out the building consent platform in front of a 

building because I thought exactly as you expressed; that they are 

really just an explanation, they were not definitions at all. 

 25 

  [11.05 am] 

 

 Do you have any comment on my comment to Ms Scott about Outline 

Development Plan?  Are you familiar with the way that has evolved 

through the RNN zones and - - - 30 

 

MS SOWERBY:   My understanding now is that the Outline Development 

Plan is only going to be applied in the context of the Greenfield Priority 

Areas and that “development plan” is going to be the term used for 

everything else. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   So “development plan” has not come through as a definition.   

 

 Now, it may or may not need one but I think that is something to think 

about just or clarity because it will end up being used.  Well, it has 40 

been recommended through the RNN zone  process that it be used and 

amendments be made to the Plan so we use it through many chapters 

and it is really just a question of whether it would be clearer, clearer 

into the future if the definition of Outline Development Plan which has 

been changed, it is changed further to incorporate a reference to the 45 
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Greenfield Priority Areas that it is to be used for just so that people do 

not pick that definition up in the future and use it more broadly. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I think that would be useful. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, okay, thank you.   

 

 There is a series of, and I do not know who else to address this to, so 

sorry I am going to catch you with it.   

 10 

 There were a series of definitions that we used in the original 

Residential Chapter particularly which can feed through into the 

Stage 1 definitions and that included “community activity and facility” 

and “spiritual activity and facility” in place of “assembly” and there 

was quite a bit of work to try and make sure that they were consistent 15 

or nested within one another and that their use within the rules was 

consistent. 

 

 There is a new definition of “cultural activities” been added in and it 

overlaps with some of those other definitions.  It could potentially 20 

overlap with “spiritual activity”.  It overlaps also with “entertainment 

activity”, essentially with place of assembly.  It is not clear whether it 

is a community activity because “community activity” is quite an 

overarching definition and I am just concerned that with some of the 

additional definitions that have come in that some work is needed to 25 

make sure that they are integrated with the existing definitions because 

there is a whole package of community-type activities, there is 

education and health and they all sort of either nest or sit alongside one 

another and have to be used appropriately – and I think this cultural 

activity one has brought with it a few problems. 30 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are you familiar at all with that new definition? 

 35 

MS SOWERBY:   I can understand that by introducing it, it does potentially 

fall within the umbrella of community activities et cetera, and that 

perhaps some further work does need to be done to ensure that there is 

no overlap or any issues or conflicts raised by it. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Because it talks about an activity that “states the beliefs of a 

community” and when you look at spiritual, it tends to talk about 

similar aspects.  It talks about “public performances, demonstrations 

and displays and exhibitions” but those sorts of things are also in 

entertainment like theatre; where would a theatre fall?  Would it be a 45 

cultural activity or would it be an entertainment? 
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MS SOWERBY:   Right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And it may also be a place of assembly or it may also be a 

community activity – so is that an area you could have a look at? 5 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Please.  All right, and then I have one – it is just 

“transmission line” is another one and I do not think the Utilities lead is 10 

coming so I am asking you. 

 

 There are two definitions still left in this chapter because things have 

been altered and I am not sure if – transmission, yes, so there was the 

Decision 16, Definition of Transmission Line in green and then there 15 

was a definition of Transmission Line Corridor and the “corridor” has 

been deleted but there is still a definition there so I am not sure whether 

actually the second one is a definition of Transmission Line Corridor 

and that the deletion of the word “corridor” is an error or - - - 

 20 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I did actually bring this apparent duplication to the chapter 

leader’s attention and my understanding was that one of them, and I 

assume it is the transmission line corridor that has been amended, was 25 

no longer required. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well one of the corridor definitions is not required, but I am 

not sure if it is this one. 

 30 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So could that be sorted out too, please. 

 

 And then my final question and you might just be able to remind me 35 

about this; there are a whole lot of definitions that in my mind I cannot 

remember why they are needed, and they are the ones that relate to 

what do we call them about green star buildings and water and energy 

efficient buildings, and there are ones like automatic daylight control 

and control zone and dampeners and specific power and thermal 40 

resistance – are they still needed because there are still some provisions 

that relate to those aspects in some of the rules? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I would assume so, yes, but Scott Blair would be the one to 

confirm that. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right.  It may be that there are still some rules there that 

require those although I now they have been deleted from the 

Residential 1 and 2 decisions.  All right, thank you very much.  That is 

all my questions, thank you, Ms Sowerby. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, Ms Sowerby, thank you for clarifying a few things 

there and in terms of, one of my main focuses is clearly this is a work 

in progress and this is just one part of that progress.  But looking 10 

forward, you explained your role so far has been in terms of ensuring 

the definitions are readable and workable, you applied attention to 

syntax and grammar, those sorts of things, testing things back with the 

relevant chapter authors and ensuring alignment and continuity. 

 15 

 So my particular interest in all of these questions comes back to that 

same theme of just ensuring we have definitions that are legally sound 

and clear, and looking at your significant experience and your seniority 

and your current role you would seem ideally placed; are you the 

person that we can perhaps look to going forward to effectively take 20 

control over that legal drafting soundness issue for us as we go through 

these subsequent processes towards the end of this inquiry? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, I would be happy to do that. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is great.  Is there anyone else you would say would 

need to be involved in that equation, apart from obviously the people 

you would confer with at the chapter author level? 

 

MS SOWERBY:  The Simpson Grierson people – what I also omitted to say 30 

earlier was, in relation to your question about what legal audit there had 

been, certainly as far as the Stage 1 Definitions went when we first 

started the process, all of the chapters went through a legal review done 

by the Technical Advisory Group, which included - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   - - - the Council’s solicitor at that point. 

 

 So the Stage 1 Definitions chapter got a legal audit.  Beyond that it was 40 

decided that because the definitions associated with each substantive 

chapter needed to be provided as part of the audit of those chapters 

anyway so that they could understand the provisions, that the 

Definitions chapter per se, did not need to go through that same audit 

subsequently because they were done in the Stage 1 chapter. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well that is helpful to understand and really it is just 

from my perspective, just going forward to ensure we have a good 

sound process of checking back as we will have to do in different 

processes that we will have to issue a minute on or the Chair will have 

to issue those sorts of things. 5 

 

 So my questions now are just on a preliminary basis and really are not 

exhaustive, they are really just to illustrate some issues in this area that 

I see at the moment. 

 10 

 And I know that for instance, if we start with the definition of building 

I know that you have explained your role in that earlier, but I do want 

to ask you about some aspect of it.  So if we go to the definition and 

just looking at it from the point of view of clarity, page 16, and 

subparagraph E. 15 

 

 So, I mean I do not know whether you agree with me but just starting 

with what was there before, it is a difficult concept in that building is 

defined to mean certain things and the function of E is to say it includes 

certain types of things but then defines an exception to what it includes.   20 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 That was what we started with in terms of not used for advertising for, 

or for any, advertising or for any other purpose.  And then this addition, 25 

we go through that and the words, advertising on for, go out, and then 

we have got an exception. 

 

 So it seems to me we start with what building means and then we say 

what it does not include by way of what is described in the D through 30 

K and then we have got an exception; so do you agree with me it leaves 

you a little bit perplexed as to whether by the time you have got to the 

exception, you are actually back to the start or in some other place?  Do 

you see the issue? 

 35 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, I see that it is a lot of contraction given that it is in a 

clause that is otherwise exempted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But obviously we can come back to how best to clarify 

that later.   40 

 

MS SOWERBY:   That particular aspect of it may be better included under 

clause C above the words “it does not include”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And I suppose just picking up on my conversation 45 

with Ms Scott earlier, again this is another matter on which we have to 
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make substantive decisions in General Rules, in other words we do not 

want to rush it. 

 

 And the next one of this, just little questions; if I go to electricity 

transmission briefly again. Well actually Ms Dawson referred to 5 

electricity line I think and this reference to the National Policy 

Statement on electricity transmission, I think I read in Ms Jenkins’ 

evidence a theory that that has an advantage in that any changes that 

are made to the document referred to get automatically translated into 

changes to the Plan.  Have you seen that?  It may have been on this or it 10 

may have been on her reference to electricity line. 

 

 From your clarity point of view, do you favour the idea of cross-

referencing or do you think it might be better self-contained? 

 15 

MS SOWERBY:   I think at the beginning of the Definitions Chapter there is 

an introductory note about the definitions that refer to legislation or 

other regulatory documents. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 20 

 

MS SOWERBY:   That basically say that where they have been amended in 

those source documents they have effectively been amended in the 

Plan. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes, well Ms Scott can help us on the law on that and 

making sure that lines up with, is that the first schedule of the Act in 

terms of amendment by reference.  It may or may not be right but 

anyway that is a legal question so I will leave that aside. 

 30 

 Just turning to motorised sports facility I think is another one I want to 

just ask you about.  Motorised sports activity, actually I will ask you 

about that one on page 69. 

 

 So look at the middle phrase, “by members of more than one residential 35 

unit”.  So let us assume we have got six boy racers flatting together 

choosing to have an event but living in one residential unit.  So they 

would not be by that definition undertaking a motorised sports activity 

even though they are making a lot of noise.  Is that, is that what we 

mean by that middle phrase or do you think that middle phrase might 40 

be problematic in the definition of motorised sports activity? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I guess on the face of it, it could be interpreted as you have 

interpreted it.  But in terms of the intention I - - - 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, do you know what the intention is of that subordinate 

phrase?  What is that? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I would probably prefer to talk to Janice Carter about that. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right, well we can come back through that 

one.  It just seemed to me to be a superfluous and perhaps problematic 

qualification. 

 

 If we got to retirement village next, and this is my last specific 10 

question, just as examples.  And this is a complicated one that has been 

added to a couple of times to the point where it is going to be hard to 

read on the screen I suspect. 

 

 Okay, here we have got it now.  So what we have got here is, if we 15 

break this down a little bit it seems to me that, well first of all there is a 

bit of inelegance in the fact that we have got the word “within” on the 

third line down, you see “care home within”, and then later on we have 

got nursing, medical and hospital “in”, so perhaps that is just a clarity 

and tidiness issue.   20 

 

 Then if we go to that same phrase and the suggestion here was to drop 

the word “care” out, so but do we not have a problem of hospital is a 

noun but nursing and medical are not, are they? 

 25 

  [11.20 am] 

 

 So now we have got a phrase that says nursing, medical and hospital.  

And it begs the question hospital what?  And it used to be hospital care 

but now the definition would just be hospital.  So do you think that 30 

would be worth clarifying as to what that is trying to do? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Yes, and I agree that the way in which that sentence now 

reads, in respect to nursing and medical services or the appropriate 

additional word in there. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SOWERBY:   It is not there and it should be. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no, it needs to be tidied a bit.  And then if we look 

towards the end, it is a very complicated definition and this is part of 

my trouble. 

 

 So we go right to the end and it says, recreation facilities, recreation 45 

activities and you have got leisure and welfare facilities and activities 
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and then it goes on, “and other non-residential activities accessory to 

the retirement village”.  And I assume accessory means what is says.  

But is that word “accessory” to the retirement village, just a qualifier 

on part of that whole phrase or does it qualify everything going right 

back to nursing, medical and hospital?  You see? 5 

 

MS SOWERBY:   I think it suggests that all of the things listed before and 

could also be deemed to be accessory but it is also opening the door to 

anything else not within that list. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well it might just be worth giving attention to it, 

obviously in conjunction with the relevant submissions.  Thanks very 

much, that will do for the moment. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Just as a matter of interest, what dictionary do you rely on 15 

for your definitions? 

 

MS SOWERBY:   Oxford. 

 

SJH:   Which Oxford? 20 

 

MS SOWERBY:   The one on my desk.  I can come back to you with the 

actual name. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Sowerby, you may stand down and we will take the 

morning adjournment for 15 minutes, thank you. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.22 am] 

 

ADJOURNED [11.22 am] 

 35 

RESUMED [11.44 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Thank you, sir, the next Council witness is Ms Hogan. 40 
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<DEBORAH JANE HOGAN, affirmed [11.44 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.44 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:  If you can confirm please your full name is Deborah Jane 

Hogan? 

 5 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared one statement of evidence dated 24 February 

2016 for this hearing? 

 10 

  [11.45 am] 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Your qualifications are set out in your evidence-in-chief for the 

stage 1 definitions proposal? 15 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make? 

 20 

MS HOGAN:   No. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could confirm that your evidence is true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you could provide a brief highlights package and remain 

seated for any questions from the Panel please. 

 30 

MS HOGAN:  Good morning, my name is Deborah Hogan and I hold the 

position of senior policy planner at Christchurch City Council.  I have 

been chapter lead for the rural proposal stage 2 and 3 excluding 

quarrying related provisions and for topic 1 indigenous biodiversity and 

ecosystems of the natural and cultural heritage proposal.   35 

 

 My evidence outlines firstly amendments sought to sensitive activities 

by Tegel Foods Limited in relation to the application of the definition 

to “rural activities”.  I consider that these amendments unnecessarily 

narrow the definition and that the definition covers all activities 40 

considered appropriate for the rural environment. 

 

 Secondly, I also cover off the addition of a definition of “maintenance” 

sought by Spreydon-Heathcote Community Board as it relates to 

indigenous vegetation clearance.  It is recommended that this relief 45 
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sought be rejected as the rules in topic 9.1 have been amended to 

provide greater clarity.   

 

 And, lastly, I also note that there is a duplication of definitions for 

“family flat” and the preference is to delete the stage 2 version in 5 

favour of that inserted by decision 16. 

 

 My evidence also lists the definitions that I have covered in previous 

evidence including defined terms and activities used in the rural 

proposal and definitions related to the management of indigenous 10 

vegetation and biodiversity through topic 9.1.  I note that a number of 

these definitions related to topic 9.1 are still subject to amendment and 

change with the latest version of the revised proposal filed on 24 March 

2016 for submitter closings, which are due on 7 April, and I do note 

that the revised proposal attached with the opening legal submissions 15 

also includes those updated definitions at that point. 

 

 Just in terms of, which I haven’t covered in my evidence but I just note 

that I have also been involved in discussions with Ms Carter in relation 

to Isaac Conservation Trust in terms of recreation activities and its 20 

relationship to motorised sports.  And Ms Scott raised the matter this 

morning that there may need to be a consequential amendment to in 

particular P11 under the Rural Waimakariri zone that I consider would 

actually address some of the concerns raised by Isaac Conservation 

Trust and I am happy to pursue that through a joint memo if the 25 

submitter wishes to do so. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Hello again, Ms Hogan.  Just a couple of questions, guest 30 

accommodation, which you may have not turned your mind to, just to 

go back a step.  In the rural rules “farm stay” is particularly sort of 

singled out as its own activity, isn’t it, and dealt with specifically? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   But “farm stay” is a form of “guest accommodation” and I 

am just concerned to make sure that if “guest accommodation” is 

defined broadly, which I perceive it to be, then should “farm stay” be 

excluded from “guest accommodation” in the same way that “bed and 40 

breakfast” is? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, I did, because this issue came up recently and in terms of 

whether or not we were looking at marking the reliant definitions that 

sat within “farm stay” and in looking at that I prefer that it would be 45 

excluded because it is essentially the rural equivalent of a bed and 
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breakfast and I wouldn’t want it to unnecessarily get caught up in that 

broader definition.   

 

 However when I looked at the way the rules are structured in the rural 

chapter, so it permits the “farm stay” up to a certain level, then beyond 5 

that it accepts that it jumps into the “guest accommodation” category so 

it links it that way but I think they can be managed as two discrete 

activities. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Activities, yes, so it is not like a small version of “guest 10 

accommodation”, it is its own activity but the dividing line beyond it 

becomes “guest accommodation”? 

 

  [11.50 am] 

 15 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the same way as bed and breakfast, yes. 

 

 And in residential activity definition, or maybe it is residential unit 20 

definition – yes, it says, “a residential unit may be used as a bed and 

breakfast” just to be very clear so again, just remind me is farm stay 

also linked to being part of a residential unit or is it a separate activity 

alongside residential unit? 

 25 

MS HOGAN:   From memory, it was amended so it needs to be associated with 

a residential unit on the site and from memory, the rules indicate it does 

not have to be within the residential unit but that it can be or it can be 

in a separate building elsewhere except where it occurs in the 

Rural/Urban Fringe and you are in the air/noise boundary it can only be 30 

a form of a family flat. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well, I think you are probably best to keep them 

slightly separate. 

 35 

MS HOGAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you for that. 

 

 And you have defined “minor residential unit” for the purpose of the 40 

Rural zone but it did not get recommended to be defined for the 

Residential zone.  It is a residential unit, it is called a minor one and 

then its “minor-ness” is defined through the activity-specific standards 

in the Residential version. 

 45 
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 Can you remind me or tell me why a specific definition is needed for 

the Rural zone when it is not needed or has not been considered to be 

needed for the Residential zone? 

 

MS HOGAN:   Just casting my mind back.  When I was drafting out the 5 

provisions, just in terms of the Rural Chapter, it was not clear what a 

minor residential unit was and it is really that primary residential unit 

on the same site so I guess in terms of whether or not it is needed and 

whether we can just rely on residential unit and then the scale is 

managed through the rules, I am reasonably comfortable with that 10 

provided it does not create the situation where you can then say a minor 

residential unit can then be separated off because for the rural 

environment it is about ensuring that those things maintain or stay 

together in that we meet the density requirement so there would be – 

there is a little concern there but I am happy to look further and follow 15 

that through in terms of the definition. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it may be that in the Residential situation, separating 

them off is not such a big issue but I understand what you are saying, 

Rural, it might be.  So just look at that.  I am not saying you must not 20 

have a definition.  It is just I do not want to create any concern that 

there is this definition for one chapter but not for the other and why but 

if there is a good reason for it, then continue to leave it there. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, well, I guess the other issue is, is that “minor residential 25 

unit” is referred to in the Residential Chapter as well as Rural with this 

definition that – I mean, the other option is whether or not we just 

change the name of it if it is only specifically for Rural to avoid 

confusion with the Residential Chapter. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Well, just have a look at it.  I mean, if it works fine as it is 

then that is fine with me too but just to make sure that there is not any 

unintended confusion there. 

 

MS HOGAN:    Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Sorry, I do have a few more than I thought. 

 

 One of the overlapping definitions that has been brought to our 

attention is between rural produce retail and rural selling place and I do 40 

not think anyone has made a suggestion as to how that could or 

whether it needs to be sorted out.  I think one of them at least has 

already been decided, maybe through the Transport Decisions.   
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 Although they are overlapping and they are similar, they are not exactly 

the same.  I mean, do you think there is a need to resolve that 

overlapping-ness between those two definitions? 

 

  [11.55 am] 5 

 

MS HOGAN:   I think it would assist with avoiding confusion in terms and 

how it is used in the Plan.  My understanding is that the selling place is 

only referred to in Chapter 7. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and if that “rural produce retail” could be substituted for 

“rural selling place” in Chapter 7 without any more than a minor effect 

or with exactly the same effect from a parking or transport point of 

view, then perhaps that is something you could think about and maybe 

the Council might need to put a memo to us suggesting how that 15 

happens. I think because they are such similar definitions or it would be 

good not to have them both there. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, look, I am more than happy to look at getting rid of one or 

the other.  I suppose they cover off the same things, yes, I can do that. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now, my two other Rural questions related to quarrying 

which I know is not your area but Ms Radburnd is not here so perhaps 

could I just ask you to take a note of these and maybe it is something 

you could liaise with her and if necessary, come back to us or in the 25 

next round when these are happening, it is two matters that are not 

defined and I am not sure whether they need definitions. 

 

 One of them is “highest recorded ground level”.  It used to be called 

“seasonal water table” or something, and that has been deleted and the 30 

evidence is all that that should be substituted with “highest recorded 

ground level” which is the way it is written into the amended rules, 

there is no definition for that and I do not know whether there should 

be or whether the words are plain enough on their own in the rules. 

 35 

MS HOGAN:   Okay, yes, no, I will - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the other one is “aggregate processing activity”; so 

“ancillary aggregate processing activity” is defined and it is included 

within the definition of quarrying but non-ancillary version just 40 

“aggregate processing activity” is included as a discretionary activity in 

the Rural Quarry zone but without itself having a definition. 

 

 Now, maybe again it does not need one, it is plain enough, but it is a 

specified activity and just if you could maybe liaise with Ms Radburnd 45 

and see whether there is a need for definitions because those are two 
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aspects that were – and it may be the Rural closing has not closed yet, I 

do not think quite, or I cannot remember. 

 

MS HOGAN:   Yes, no, we have provided closing submissions. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   That is right, you have, yes. 

 

MS HOGAN:   At least technical submissions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, so thank you very much for following up on 10 

those, that is all my questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, Ms Hogan, just carry on with a question I asked 15 

Ms Sowerby, in your definitions and I presume you designed the 

“equestrian facility” definition as well as “farming” definition.  You 

used the words “may include” and in other areas it is “include” or 

“including”.  The word “may”, can it be deleted or it should it be 

deleted? 20 

 

MS HOGAN:    Yes, on the face of it, it sounds unnecessary and to ensure 

consistency with the way the definitions are being phrased I am more 

than happy to look into that and where it is not needed seek some 

alignment, yes. 25 

 

MR NEILL:    Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you Ms Hogan, you may stand down. 

 

 Yes, Ms Scott? 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, next we will call Mr Scott Blair. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.58 am] 

 

45 
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<ADAM SCOTT BLAIR, sworn [11.59 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.59 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, your full name is Scott Blair? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Adam Scott Blair. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Adam Scott Blair, sorry, and you have prepared two statements 

of evidence for this Hearing, the first evidence-in-chief dated 

24 February 2016, the second in rebuttal dated 10 March 2016? 

 10 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And your qualifications and experience are set out in the first 

statement of evidence you prepared in this process which was at 

Stage 1 Residential? 15 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your 

evidence? 20 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, in terms of my rebuttal evidence of the 10th of March, the 

final paragraph 5.3, at page 8 should be deleted in light of the 

agreement or the joint memorandum of the Council, the Crown and the 

- - - 25 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

SJH:   Well it is not a deletion, it has just simply been overtaken by events. 

 30 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

SJH:   So it is not a correction in that sense; it was correct at the time you 

provided the evidence but it has now been overtaken by the 

memorandum that was filed yesterday. 35 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   If you can confirm please that your evidence is true and correct 

to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, I can. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   And present a brief highlights package and then answer any 

questions that the panel may have. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Over the course of the District Plan review I have been a chapter 

leader and presented evidence for the Stage 1 Residential, Central City 5 

Hospital, Specific Purpose Hospital, Signs, Central City Signs, 

Hazardous Substances and Contaminated Land and Central City 

Hazardous Substances and Contaminated Land. 

 

 Relevant evidence that was presented in those hearings has been 10 

adopted for the purposes of this hearing.  My understanding is that all 

definitions that I have addressed have now been resolved, in light of the 

agreed position on the Hazardous Substances we get an issue reached 

between the Council, the Crown, the oil companies and the Lyttelton 

Port Company. 15 

 

 I note that we have agreed to the wording for an exemption that applies 

to the bulk liquid storage area and that we have agreed in principle that 

the exemption should apply to the Specific Purpose Lyttelton Port Zone 

and more generally that we have not agreed on the specific drafting 20 

required to reflect that in time for the hearing today.  I have agreed to 

continue to work with the relevant parties on that wording. 

 

 Other hazardous substances and contaminated land definitions are all 

agreed between the relevant parties.  My understanding is that I have 25 

reached agreement with all submitters who have filed evidence in the 

context of this hearing.  I will however briefly explain the other 

submissions that are addressed in my evidence.   

 

 Ryman Healthcare Limited, Carter Group and the Canterbury District 30 

Health Board in relation to healthcare facilities: there is a Stage 1 and 

Stage 2 definition of healthcare facility. 

 

 Ryman Healthcare request that the definition be amended so that some 

of the services they provide in retirement villages that might 35 

inadvertently be caught by the definition so as to avoid some of their 

services being caught by the definition.  I have agreed that there is the 

potential for confusion and recommend that the submission be accepted 

in part and Stage 2 definition of healthcare facility be amended by 

introducing a specific exclusion for healthcare at retirement villages. 40 

 

 Carter Group and the Canterbury District Health Board request that the 

Stage 2 definition be retained.  In accordance with the Ryman 

submission I recommend that these be accepted in part.   

 45 
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 Ryman Healthcare, Carter Group and the Crown make submissions on 

the definition of hospital.  There is a Stage 1 and Stage 2 definition of 

hospital.  Ryman are concerned that the Stage 2 definition of hospital 

will inadvertently capture some of the services they provide in 

retirement villages.  I agree that there is the potential for confusion and 5 

recommend that this submission be accepted in part and the Stage 2 

definition of hospital be amended to exclude hospital facilities in 

retirement villages. However as a consequential amendment I 

recommend a new definition of hospital and retirement village and an 

amendment of the retirement village definition.   10 

 

 Carter Group and the Crown request that the Stage 2 definition of 

hospital be retained for the central city.  I recommend that these 

submissions be accepted in part.   

 15 

 Various submitters seek that the definition of building be changed so 

that vehicles and trailers et cetera are not defined as buildings when 

they are being used as a residential unit; tiny homes can be constructed, 

that the definition of building be changed to align with the 

Building Act.  I conclude that such amendments are either 20 

inappropriate or unnecessary. 

 

 Carter Group request that one of the two definitions of building, in 

relation to the central city rules, be deleted, and I agree with this relief.   

 25 

 There are submissions in relation to signage.  I note that these 

definitions have been considered primarily through the General Rules 

hearing with closing submissions not yet filed by either submitters or 

the Council and that discussions are continuing on the definition of 

primary building frontage.   30 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

 Phantom Bill Stickers request that the definition of building to clarify 

where a fence or wall is being used for advertising, the fence itself does 35 

not need a resource consent.  I have recommended that this be accepted 

although acknowledged that there are drafting issues as have been 

raised this morning. 

 

 Phantom Bill Stickers request that the definition of off-site sign be 40 

deleted.  I recommend that this be rejected.  It is integral to a number of 

rules in the General City Signage package.   

 

 ETC Media request a new definition of digital sign be added to support 

rules in the signage provisions.  I recommend that this submission be 45 
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accepted in part and once again “digital sign” is a term used in the 

Signage package. 

 

 McDonald’s Restaurants Limited request amendments to the building 

definition so that signs are not subject to zone built form standards.  I 5 

recommend that this be rejected because the signs rules are written in 

tandem with those zone provisions. 

 

 Go Media and i-Site requested definition of billboard. I recommend 

that this be rejected because the definition of off-site sign encompasses 10 

billboards.   

 

 Some submissions have been deferred from Stage 1.  The Canterbury 

District Health Board made a Stage 1 submission seeking an 

amendment to the height definition to exempt some hospitals. 15 

Amendments made to the Specific Purpose Hospital provisions in 

earlier hearings have made this unnecessary and I recommend that this 

submission be rejected. 

 

 Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Just to be consistent, Mr Blair, you used the words “including” 

and “excluding”, others used the words “include” and “exclude” or as 25 

previously discussed, the word “may”.  Can we just be consistent 

whichever word you all choose? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, sir. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thanks, Mr Blair – so just a couple of questions. 

 

 The first one, and you may well get some more questions from others 35 

about this definition of building, but my question really to you is going 

back to the first principles; for the purposes of the signs rules, as 

opposed to building rules in other zones, but in the signs rules, is a 

fence with a sign on it meant to be covered by the fences on buildings 

rules?  Do you see what I mean? 40 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, yes it is, I have been looking at this obviously down the 

back this morning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 45 
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MR BLAIR:   There are a number of – there are obviously some built form 

standards that restrict in certain zones the height of buildings.  Now the 

way the definition of building is drafted at the moment, if a sign were 

placed onto those fences, even if they complied with the height 

standards they would then become a building, in which case they would 5 

run afoul of other setback rules that require buildings to be set back 

from, not to be in road boundary setbacks or in other setbacks. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if we just forget about that for a moment, in the signs 

rules, which I have not brought with me, there is a set of rules, I mean 10 

the bulk of the built form standards for signs are either – and the size 

provisions and how much you can have, et cetera, they are under signs 

on buildings and freestanding signs.  So signs tend to fall into those 

two categories.  Am I right with that? 

 15 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct, they can also fall into in terms of, yes, those are 

the two categories. 

 

MS DAWSON:  So if you look at the built form signs there are signs on 

buildings, signs on, I mean there are traffic signs as well, yes, but so if 20 

someone was to put a sign on a fence, just any sign, what built form 

rules apply to that sign on a fence if the sign is not either, is it a 

freestanding sign which does not seem to come within that definition.  

But if the fence is not considered to be a building, then the signs on 

buildings rules do not come into play either? 25 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, it is intended that where a sign is on a building – It is 

intended that where a sign is on a fence and it complies with all of the 30 

other built form standards, say the signs or it cannot be seen from a 

residential zone or for whatever, that it be a permitted activity. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So a sign on a fence, even if it is not a conforming 

prefabricated sign- - - 35 

 

MR BLAIR:   Well, in the sense that if it is a conforming prefabricated sign – 

well, I think what is missing from the definition is that it does not say 

that the sign has to be complying, the sign on the fence has to be 

complying with the signage rules. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So say you have got a commercial activity, a commercial 

building, it cannot be seen from a residential area and that the building 

– and they have got a fence around the property – and the people who 

own that commercial activity want to spread their signs between their 45 

building and their fencing. 
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MR BLAIR:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So they have a total amount of signing that they are allowed 

to have which is dependent on their primary building frontage, say; are 5 

they allowed to put some of their signs on their fence or do they all 

have to go on the building? 

 

MR BLAIR:   No, it is intended that they be able to put signage onto that fence, 

yes.  10 

 

MS DAWSON:   But how does that all work if the fence is not seen to be a 

building because in the sign rules, all the rules about how much you 

can have totally relates to signs on buildings? 

 15 

MR BLAIR:  The way the existing exclusion in the definition of building as 

publicly notified said that essentially that any fence with a sign on it 

becomes a building. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so for the purposes of the signs rules, forgetting about 20 

setbacks and all those sort of things that are in, say, the Residential 

zone or the Commercial zone, landscaping rules et cetera, just forget 

about that for a minute. 

 

 For the purposes of the signs rules, is a fence to be – are fines on fences 25 

to be considered part of the signage that would also be on a building? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, they are. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so for the purposes of the signs rule, it is as though it is 30 

a building? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, but the problem becomes then when that is translated 35 

into the zone which may have, say, a setback or a glazing or – if it was 

a building somewhere, it has got to have windows and already has 

landscaping or it has got a setback; so all right, so on the one hand you 

are trying to solve the second problem but it causes a problem with the 

signs rules? 40 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean, I am sure there is a way through it - - - 

 45 

MR BLAIR:   I am not sure. 
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MS DAWSON:   - - - but I do not know if it is the way that you have done. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, I am sure that there is, yes. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but for the purposes of signs, fences and buildings 

are all considered as a package? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, they are. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that will do for me.  Sorry, I have got 

one other question because Ms Sowerby directed me to you. 

 

 It was about these definitions that seem to relate to the water and 

energy efficiency rules, but are still retained.  Can you remind me, are 15 

they still needed? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Those definitions were originally in the Stage 1 Residential.  

The Stage 1 Residential Decision did not carry the development rules 

over, but they also included, or the or same or similar rules were 20 

included in Stage 2 Residential which is – that chapter was led by 

Sarah Oliver. 

 

 I understand that those rules are not in the Stage 2 Residential Decision 

as well, that essentially those definitions have become redundant. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   So could you, with Sarah Oliver, perhaps have a look and see 

if there are any definitions that are still in the list of definitions that 

given those rules have now been also taken out of the Stage 2 

Residential, could be deleted altogether from the definitions. 30 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, I will. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, and I beg your pardon – retirement village;  could 

the definition of retirement village be put up please and it is a matter 

that has come to my attention and Judge Hassan also asked you, asked 

about this. 

 40 

 It is this word “care” that has been crossed out.  The word “care” used 

previously before the words “in a retirement village” were added, care 

used to relate to nursing, medical and hospital care. 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So shouldn’t that word care still relate to – shouldn’t it say, 

although it could be expressed better – nursing and medical care and a 

hospital in a retirement village? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, it should. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, it is just in the swapping around of things, the care has 

been moved and then deleted? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I noted that in the definition of, I think it is ‘care home’, 

it says “care home within a retirement village” and then in hospital it 

say “hospital in a retirement….” 

 15 

 They are not intended to be different things are they? 

 

MR BLAIR:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Would it be helpful if they both used the same word? 20 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Either “within” or “in”. 

 25 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And in relation to hospital, could you go – the definition of 

hospital in a retirement village. 

 30 

 The way that has been – you have added “in a retirement village” to 

one of the definitions of hospital, because that was a quick and easy 

way of defining it, but it does not actually say that it means a facility 

within a retirement village, so if you could maybe just look at the 

screen, where you have taken at the start of definition of hospital, and 35 

added the words “a retirement village”, should it not have, “means any 

facility in a retirement village providing hospital care”? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, it can. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because otherwise it is too broad, isn’t it? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, that is all my questions, thank you, Mr Blair. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Blair, I am going to trouble you with the same two 

definitions.  So we go back to building, thank you, and will look again 

at E. 5 

 

 I am just going to ask you to do your best with this bearing in mind this 

is a matter we will need to give some further thought to.  So looking at 

E, if we perhaps bring that up in scale so we can focus on it a bit more, 

just following on from Ms Dawson’s question in terms of other ways 10 

of, of better ways of solving the problems that you have described you 

are seeking to solve, so long as the rules that govern advertising are 

correctly expressed for regulation and exception, then we, in theory, 

would not need to have this definition mention “advertising” at all, 

would we? 15 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct sir, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and secondly, if we were theoretically able to get 

rid of that problem and we look at another little problem that I just 20 

wonder about the next phrase; “Not used for any purpose other than as 

a fence”. 

 

 So, a fence that supports a clothesline or has displayed on it a 

community mural or has roses trained along it, I know that that might 25 

be getting into the ridiculous end of things, but nevertheless, there is 

different purposes, indeed it might be said that those are purposes of a 

fence or not.   

 

 So thinking about that confusion, do you know what that is trying to 30 

regulate? 

 

MR BLAIR:   From memory, it is trying to regulate, say if a fence or a wall 

that might be used say as a retaining wall, bearing in mind “retaining 

wall” in F, or the outside wall of a building - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which is covered by building controls? 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Indeed, some walls of shops might be walls as well as 

rules of shops and the purpose of the wall might be to support the shop; 

which is the purpose of the wall? 

 

MR BLAIR:   I think it was originally included, it has come over from the 45 

Operative City Plan - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think it is worth a look at as to whether in fact we 

can just cut through all of that as well and just define a fence up to a 

certain height not to be a fence? 

 5 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, I think we can, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Possibly. 

 

 Now, “retirement villages”; just to go back to that definition again, we 10 

will put that on the screen.  Just while it is going on the screen would it 

be fair to say that you are supporting a definition here but effectively a 

definition which has come through a process of compromise and 

discussion involving different contributions including, for instance, 

from the planners and lawyers for the retirement village sector? 15 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you may need to go back through that presumably to 

get this right but my feeling now is that it does look like a horse 20 

designed by a committee, in other words a camel, and I wonder 

whether there are different things that could be unpicked in this if we 

were to start afresh. 

 

 And just testing that in principle first; look at A and B, am I right to 25 

understand that if it is not an A or a B, then it is not a retirement 

village? 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:  That is right, they are prerequisites for the definition so 

that helps just to know that.  Then we look at the phrase 

“comprehensive residential development”; now, you know that phrase 

is defined in here, but just for New Neighbourhood zones, do you 

understand that? 35 

 

MR BLAIR:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then it goes on “that contains two or more residential 

units” – did you know that the definition that is proposed here for 40 

New Neighbourhood zones of comprehensive residential development 

has a cut-off of three residential units? 

 

MR BLAIR:   No, I didn’t, sir, thank you. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So coming back through there, do we need the phrase 

“used for a comprehensive residential development” given that phrase 

is defined just for one purpose, namely New Neighbourhood zones? 

 

MR BLAIR:   I agree it is probably not necessary.  I think from memory there 5 

was, in earlier iterations of the Stage 1 residential provisions prior to 

notification, I think that there was provision, there were earlier rules 

centred around “comprehensive residential development”, but they are 

not in the final package, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN: All right. So am I right to understand that again a 

prerequisite for qualifying as a retirement village is that it must contain 

two or more residential units and those must be together with services 

and/or facilities for onsite residents and staff? 

 15 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, and then the words in brackets, right through to the 

end of the brackets on the second to last line, they are all optional 

extras, aren’t they, you can have all of them or some of them? 20 

 

MR BLAIR:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thanks.   

 25 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Blair, you may stand down. 30 

 

MR BLAIR:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.23 pm] 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, the Council’s next witness is Ms Janice Carter. 

 

40 
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<JANICE CARTER, sworn [12.23 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [12.24 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, Ms Carter, you have prepared two statements of 

evidence for this hearing? 

 5 

MS CARTER:   I have. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The first evidence-in-chief dated 24 February 2016, the second 

statement of rebuttal dated 10 March 2016? 

 10 

MS CARTER:   I did. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have the qualifications and experience as set out in your 

first statement of evidence for the Open Space hearing? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   (INDISTINCT 4.28) 

 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do, good morning. 20 

 

 In my rebuttal evidence at page 5, paragraph 4.1, I make reference to 

the defined term “customary harvest”, this should be “customary 

harvesting”, so the change needs to be made in the subheading and in 

line 2, and the final line. 25 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, with those corrections can you confirm that your 

two statements of evidence are true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge? 

 

MS CARTER:   They are. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you can please present a brief highlights summary of your 

evidence and then remain seated for any questions. 

 

MS CARTER:   Thank you.  For the Stage 2 and 3 Definitions hearing I have 40 

primarily provided evidence on definitions relevant to the Open Space 

proposal Chapter 18.  I did not draft the Open Space proposal but I am 

the Council’s planning witness for the open Space hearing and prepared 

evidence to the open space proposal.  

 45 
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 In respect to the open space proposal the defined terms still in dispute 

include “recreation activity” and “major sports facility” which arise 

from the submission of the Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust and 

covered in their evidence on the Open Space proposal, the General 

Procedures proposal and in the Stage 2 and 3 Definitions hearing. 5 

 

 Recreation activity: in my open space evidence I originally 

recommended on its merits that the definition of “recreation activity” 

should be amended to exclude motorised sports activity as I agreed that 

because of the potentially significant noise effects motorised sport 10 

activity should not be permitted wherever recreation activities are 

permitted.   

 

 I also agreed in my evidence-in-chief for this hearing to this 

amendment but identified that a scope issue at paragraph 5.20 remains 15 

a concern.  However, in my rebuttal evidence I record my current view 

which is that it would be inappropriate to amend the definition of 

“recreation activity” to exclude motorised sport activity and that where 

this term is used in the plan the rules activity or built form standards are 

the appropriate place to include or exclude restrictions on that activity 20 

depending on the needs of the chapter or zone. 

 

 I have discussed this issue with the chapter leaders and most chapter 

leaders had recognised the broad nature of this term in the drafting of 

their chapters and have placed suitable parameters around the use of 25 

“recreation activity” through zone rules and also with reliance on noise 

standards.   This approach is consistent with the use of broad terms 

generally in the Plan and also resolves any concerns in respect of 

scope.   

 30 

 In terms of the changes to the Rural rules that are required as a result at 

this stage the matter has not been resolved and this was discussed this 

morning and I understand the related rule provisions, which is 

rule 17.4.2.1 P11, as mentioned by Ms Hogan, will result in a need to 

change that, a change to a recommendation that is already made to the 35 

Rural Waimakariri zone provisions but I understand that that has not 

yet been formally updated and given to the Panel. 

 

 Major sports facility: at the Open Space hearing I acknowledged that 

there were some problems in the definition of “major sports facility”.  40 

The definition as notified states that “major sports facilities” has the 

same meaning as “minor sports facility” plus the list of more 

substantial sports facilities such as stadia and swimming pool. 

 

 This has been taken to mean that all of the facilities listed in the “minor 45 

sports facilities” definition are included in the definition of “major 
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sports facilities”.  In my view this is a drafting error and in my rebuttal 

evidence for this hearing I have suggested some wording to address this 

concern. 

 

 The Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust are concerned that this may 5 

undermine previous agreements made with the Council in respect to the 

open space proposal to exclude major sports facilities within 

500 metres of the Peacock Springs conservation area.  I agree that there 

is an argument to be made that altering the definition of “major sports 

facilities” to make it clear that it does not include minor sports facilities 10 

results in a narrower range of activities captured by the agreed rule.   

 

 Ancillary, a further defined term that I address in my evidence is the 

definition of “ancillary”.  Since filing my evidence-in-chief and rebuttal 

evidence for this hearing the Panel has released Decision 16 which is 15 

relevant in respect to that term.   

 

 My comments in my evidence-in-chief at paragraph 5.5 to 5.6 in 

respect to the word “ancillary” was specifically addressing a 

requirement for the open space proposal.  This was the impact of the 20 

deletion of the sentence “Any ancillary retail activity shall also be 

limited to display and sale of goods produced, processed or stored on 

the site”. 

 

 However I generally agree that with the reasoning in decision 16 that 25 

the ordinary meaning of the word “ancillary” will be sufficient in most 

cases for the purposes of the proposed Plan.   

 

 I do have a concern in respect to the definition inserted in Decision 16 

that specifies what “ancillary” is not.  In its current form there is no 30 

incentive to signal use of the term by underlining it if the definition 

only identifies what ancillary does not include.   

 

 A connection between the ordinary meaning of ancillary and what the 

term does not allow for is needed. I note that there is duplication 35 

remaining in the revised proposal for this definition and I am happy to 

work further on endeavouring to remove that duplication. 

 

 I am happy to answer any questions. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill?  Oh, sorry, Ms Limmer. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.30 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Thank you, Ms Carter. 45 
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 I will talk to you first about the definition of “major sports facilities”; 

in your highlights package you have included some additional 

comment from your evidence and I just want to confirm I understand 

that. 

 5 

 So you accept the definition you now recommend would capture fewer 

activities than the notified definition? 

 

MS CARTER:   In terms of the intention it was not intended that the minor 

sports facilities be dragged into it.  So in terms of the drafting, and if 10 

you look at it the way that some people have interpreted it, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Similarly, then the rule agreed with the Trust in Chapter 18 

relating to resource consent requirements within a certain distance of 

Peacock Springs, that when that agreement was reached the drafting of 15 

the major sports facility definition was different to what you now 

recommend? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is right. 

 20 

MS LIMMER:   And it would apply to fewer activities by definition, than it did 

at that time? 

 

MS CARTER:   In terms of what is now clarified and what was – It was not 

intended that way but it definitely did give that impression in the 25 

definitions so clarifying that does take away that ambiguity and by 

implication narrows the number of activities that are included in major 

sports facility. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  So in order to effectively put the Trust back in the 30 

position it was in when it agreed that rule with the Council, you would 

agree that the 500 metre requirement for consent should also apply now 

to minor sports facilities? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   I would like to ask you now about the definition of recreation 

activities; now just to confirm, your opinion is that major, minor and 

motorised sports activities are all types of recreation activities? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And that it is correct that Chapter 18 of the plan assigns a 

particular activity status to each of those four activities, that is right? 

 45 

MS CARTER:   It does. 
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MS LIMMER:   Whereas Chapter 17 for example only does so for recreation 

activities? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is correct. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   And at the time of the Chapter 17 hearing Ms Hogan did not 

consider that permitted status for recreation activities extended to those 

other separately defined activities, that is your understanding? 

 10 

MS CARTER:   That is my understanding of Ms Hogan’s understanding. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  And you took that same approach in January this year 

did you not, for the Chapter 18 hearing? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Perhaps, Ms Carter, can you look at your paragraph 10.4 of 

your evidence for the Chapter 18 hearing? 

 20 

 In the first sentence of that you have said there motorised sports 

activities are not permitted or otherwise specifically listed, therefore by 

default they are not complying.  Now just to confirm, recreation 

activities are listed as permitted in the OMI zone, aren’t they? 

 25 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So the implication of your evidence at 10.4 is that motorised 

sports activities are not permitted by the recreation activity permission, 

is that correct? 30 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you think the definition of recreation activity put forward 

now in the revised proposal makes it clear that it does not include 35 

motorised sports, major sports or minor sports activities? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is quite difficult to explain, I am trying to explain where I 

have come from in terms of my understanding, so that you can 

understand why I no longer think that we need to exclude it. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Perhaps, Ms Carter, I can ask you to answer the question first.  

The definition that we have in front of us now, do you think that makes 

it clear that wherever recreation activity is permitted, that does not 

mean motorised sports, minor sports or major sports are also permitted? 45 
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  [12.35 pm] 

 

MS CARTER:   I think it does mean that.  So where recreation - - - 

 

MS LIMMER:   The definition, sorry – the definition, you think that makes it 5 

clear, the definition?  The words - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   My view is that the definition of recreation activity is very 

broad so it does include all those things.  So if the rules in the Plan 

make recreation activity permitted with nothing around them to restrict 10 

that, well then they would be permitted. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But that is different from Ms Hogan’s understanding in 

Chapter 17? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   It is and we have – well I have discussed that with Ms Hogan, 

because it results in some perverse outcomes in terms of the consistent 

interpretation of the Plan. 

 

 So where a definition is particularly broad, my reading of the Plan is 20 

that a person should be able to look at the recreation activity definition 

at its broadest sense and assume that it does include all the recreation 

activities that you could think of and that it is the rules that will put 

parameters around what you can and cannot do in terms of that 

definition and if it does not, well then yes, they are all permitted. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   So just as a reader of the Plan, if you picked it up, looked at 

chapter 18, which has all four of those activities listed, looked at 

chapter 17, which only lists one, looked at the definition, you are 

saying there would be no ambiguity in anyone’s mind as to whether or 30 

not recreation activity includes or excludes those other three activities? 

 

MS CARTER:   In my mind there is not, but that does not mean to say that 

someone else will not be different. 

 35 

SJH:   Well you are being asked about the reader of the Plan, not your mind, 

Ms Carter. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, okay.  I accept that there is room for debate on this issue. 

 40 

MS LIMMER:   Do you think that is desirable? 

 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, no further questions. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   When we discussed Open Spaces, motor sports were to be 

excluded and we were particularly talking about the area close to 

Peacock Springs.  Are you saying that your mind has changed since 5 

giving that evidence? 

 

MS CARTER:   No.  In the Open Space proposal – and that is the difference 

between the Open Space and the Rural – the Open Space proposal does 

include rules on motorised sports activities so it is quite clear that there 10 

is the use of the word recreation activities but there is also use of the 

word motorised sports, so it becomes more specific. 

 

 So it is specifically listed in the Open Space chapter, whereas it is not 

in the Rural Chapter. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   Can I just then look at the definition of motorised sports 

facilities; you refer to car and motorbike racing. One of the discussions 

we had at that time was “truck racing” and that word has not been 

included.  I realise that it is an indication, not an exact, but Ruapuna 20 

has truck racing? 

 

MS CARTER:   Can I just go to the definition first before answering the 

question? 

 25 

MR NEILL:   Motorised sport facility. 

 

SJH:   It is on the screen. 

 

MS CARTER:   Oh, right, sorry. 30 

 

 It is just that I thought we had included trucks but we have not included 

it yet in the revised proposal.  A truck is different from a car and 

different from a motorbike so I would agree that we could put that 

down to make it clear, I think so. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you.  And just my final question and if you go to the 

definition of major sports facility which is in your evidence in 3.2, 

page 2.  In E you say “equestrian” and in my head I have added a 

comma, “raceway and showground”.  The word raceway is intended to 40 

refer to equine issues but in fact could it be interpreted as a different 

type of raceway, ie dirt track racing by motorcycles? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I think it is intended to be attached to equestrian, so yes. 

 45 

MR NEILL:   Equestrian raceway then comma? 
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MS CARTER:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Carter, I was not involved in Open Space, so 10 

I am just looking at the wording of the definitions themselves, so I am 

struggling a little here, I’m sorry. 

 

 So just to make sure I am clear, where you have got at the moment 

“recreation activity” is the broad overarching activity that would 15 

include major or minor sports activities and facilities and also 

motorised sport? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, that is clear. 

 

 In the Open Space Zones as I understand from your exchange with Ms 

Limmer, all four of those are separately listed? 

 25 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Where it lists recreation activity, does it say “excluding 

major, minor and motorised”, do you just have to assume that because 

they are listed separately, that they are not also therefore part of the 30 

activity specific standards that go with recreation activity? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, you have to go down to the tables in kind of the other 

definitions. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So if someone was to argue differently than your position that 

you take the most liberal view say, would that argument be counted and 

it would be made even more explicit, that where all four, or even three 

or two are listed, that that is specifically excluded from the overarching 

definition of activity status of recreation or activity in that instance? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree that it would be useful to have a clarification of 

that.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 45 
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MS CARTER:    In preparing for the Hearing I did have a look at the Auckland 

Community Plan and how they do that and they talk about nesting, and 

in bigger broader terms, have other tables nested within them and they 

make it quite clear what those terms are. 

 5 

 MS DAWSON:   And if the nest is broke at some stage, in other words, 

parts of the nest are separately listed, like P3 says motorist sport with 

certain standards attached, and then P4 says recreation activities with 

different standards attached; it would be worthwhile saying, P4 being 

“recreation activities other than motorised sports”, or something, it 10 

would make it absolutely clear? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so that is one way of clarifying. 15 

 

 And then you say in other rules, other zones like Rural, the word 

recreation activities being included as an inaccuracy, and at that stage 

Ms Hogan did not realise that it was such a broad nested term, so that is 

something that has been followed up on to make sure that things like 20 

motorised sports activities are not inadvertently allowed as, say, a 

permitted activity? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, so what we have got is a proposal which has been given 

to the Isaac Conservation Trust, but we have not agreed on it yet which 25 

would include the original relief that they requested which was to 

include an activity column, standard column, and exclusion from 

motorised sport to make it clear. 

 

 And then it would default to restricted discretionary activity because it 30 

did not meet an activity specific standard, rather than defaulting to non-

complying which is what would happen if we excluded motorised sport 

from the definition. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, so that is being worked through? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are there any other zones that use the words “recreational 

activity”, and it is now understood to be broad term? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Many zones use it; I did go through them all, I do not have 

them in front of me, but Residential and Natural Cultural Heritage and 

some of the Commercial zones, like the Central City Business. 

 45 
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 I have spoken with all of the chapter leaders where they use the words 

“recreational activity” and all of them have either sufficient parameters 

around that broad definition of recreational activity to satisfy them that 

they were not concerned if I changed my mind about excluding 

motorised sport because of the other implications of doing that.  5 

Anyway, I have addressed that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is good. 

 

 I mean, would it be useful given that we have got these very specific 10 

definitions of types of recreation activity because this has been done in 

some other definitions, like Residential for example, and underneath 

recreational activity, it says something like, “for the avoidance of doubt 

this includes major and minor sports activity and motorised sport”. 

 15 

 Would that be helpful? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think what I am trying to say is that it is better to not do it in 

the definitions but to do it in the rules- - - 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No, no, I am saying “for the avoidance of doubt” this does 

include. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, therefore I agree. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   Inclusion is fine, but exclusion - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   It does include and then exclusion is in the rules? 30 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  

 

 Now motorised sports activity, what is its relationship to major or 

minor sports facility or activity; would a motorised sports facility come 

within the definition of major sports activity or facility? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Looking at the definition, it does not appear to be in the list. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, but the list isn’t exclusive, it isn’t limited to? 

 45 

MS CARTER:   I would agree that there is ambiguity there. 
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MS DAWSON:   Right, so is it intended that they be different activities? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   All right, so that needs to be clarified. 

 

 So can we just now look at, say, the definition of major sports activity 

and major sports facility; what I cannot find in here is actually a 

definition because they seem to just refer to each other, a major sports 10 

activity is something undertaken within a major sports facility, and then 

a sports facility means the use of land for a major sports activity. 

 

 So they just refer to one another, and then the list is just a non-

exclusive list. 15 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what – and the minor is exactly the same – so how is 

major or minor sports activity actually defined, or is it intended just to 20 

be the things in the lists? 

 

MS CARTER:    Looking at it, I think the effect of it is that it is just the things 

on the list because of the – I agree there is some issues with the circular 

guidance as to what a major sports facility is. 25 

 

 So, in looking at this, it is difficult to start adding to the list because of 

what it says at the beginning, “The use of land, building or structure 

principally for public or private major sports activity”, and you have to 

then go back to major sports activity and that does not help particularly 30 

much either. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It could actually be very easy to add to the list, I mean, you 

could get arguments either way that you do not know what is major or 

even what a sports facility or activity is really, other than – well, it 35 

maybe participation of varying sports that could (INDISTINCT 2.22)  

 

 So I think the sporting activity is probably all right, but I am struggling 

to see what distinguishes major from minor if it is not just – if you are 

in this list you are one and if you are in this list you are other, and they 40 

are exclusive lists? 

 

MS CARTER:   I understand it is intended to be larger, indoor primarily, but 

that is not provided. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   It does not say that, does it? 



 Page 68 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 

MS CARTER:   No, it does not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So there is no question of largeness or indoor, and in some of 

the list like golf driving ranges is on both lists.  So are there big golf 5 

driving ranges and little golf driving ranges, I mean- - - 

 

MS CARTER:    I do think there is issues with the information. 

 

MS DAWSON:   There are definitely issues, can you take that away please, 10 

because there has got to be a definition there or there is just a list that is 

exclusive, and then they cannot be in both lists. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Just you can just go back to what you were trying 

to say to us about ancillary, and you might get more questions on this 

other than from just me but I will start the ball rolling. 

 

 Am I right – I mean you understand that the words that are in the 20 

decision, in the definition of the decision, as you quite rightly said, are 

saying something that is not included, and the decision itself rely on the 

ordinary meaning; and so that relying on the ordinary meaning could be 

used wherever the word “ancillary” is used, whether it is in Stage 1 or 

Stage 2? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But as you said that would not be hyperlinked because you 

cannot hyperlink the ordinary meaning because it is not in the Plan; so 30 

are you concerned about hyperlinking to just an exclusion? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes.  I have got no problem with using the ordinary meaning 

of “ancillary”, there are a few problems in the Plan from talking with 

the other chapter leaders, about just using the ordinary meaning.  The 35 

issue of what is in the definition now in Decision 16 as to what is not 

included, how could we use that definition, because as soon as we 

underline that then all we have got is what it is not. 

 

 We have not got something that says, “Oh, it is the ordinary meaning 40 

plus this”.  So that is why I said there needs to be some sort of 

connection between what – even though I understand that we do not 

want to underline it and we want to use the ordinary meaning, we are 

left with this, if you like, a fragment that says what it is not. 

 45 

  [12.50 pm] 



 Page 69 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

 

MS DAWSON:   And is it your concern that, if you do not underline it at all 

and just leave it as the ordinary meaning, like every other word that is 

in there that is not underlined, you lose the connection to the part that is 

in there? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well, okay, so let us just say that is a little problem and a way 

around that has got to be found, but it is not a fundamental problem - - - 10 

 

MS CARTER:  It is not a fundamental problem. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, it just you have alerted us to the fact that there could be – 

it is a slightly different way of linking, not to the whole definition but 15 

to part of it. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I just do not see the chapter leaders being able to use it 

and underline the word that has been given in the definitions because of 

that, because it is only the fragment - - - 20 

 

SJH:   Well the whole point is not to underline it, it has its dictionary meaning 

so all you are talking about is the mechanics of a link. 

 

MS CARTER:   So what I am saying - - - 25 

 

SJH:   Is that correct? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is, but what I am saying - - - 

 30 

SJH:   Right, well we will need to find one or you will have to do it for your 

electronic Plan.  That is not our concern. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no, well can I just – I suppose there is a little concern 

here, is there not, that is we do want to make sure that we capture the 35 

exclusion but we do not want to capture the ordinary meaning.  That is 

something that just has to be sorted out and I am sure there is a way 

through it and we will find it. 

 

MS CARTER:   The point I am making is that no chapter leader is going to 40 

underline it because they want the ordinary meaning.  As soon as they 

underline it they lose the ordinary meaning. 

 

SJH:   I understand that, the point is how do you link to the exclusion?  It is the 

mechanics of the link, isn’t it? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   It might be a different sort of link. 

 

MS CARTER:   That may be a way through it. 

 

SJH:   Well that is all it is. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is all it is, isn’t it? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

 Now, sorry, this is another set of definitions that I think you have 

worked on, this is the Costal Recreation, that is not you? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   That is Shirley Ferguson for the Coastal Environment Chapter. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So conservation activities, park management activities? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do do conservation activities. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   So park management activities and public amenities.  So 

these two terms, park management activities is a facility and that then 

links to public amenities – are they really only applied in the Open 

Space Zones? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   I could not say that for sure.  They are used in the Open Space 

Zones, I can confirm that.  If they have been picked up conversation 

activities and they have been picked up in the Rural Zone and it may 

have been picked up in the Natural and Cultural Heritage Zone.   30 

 

MS DAWSON:   There seems to be overlap with them and the coastal 

recreation activity facility.  They are talking about similar activities, 

particularly like public amenities comes up in costal recreational 

facilities but in park management activities it is linked to a particular 35 

definition of public amenities.   

 

 When you look at the definition of public amenities it is very broad, it 

talks about visitor centres which is probably within the definition of 

cultural facility, includes signs which are covered by sign rules.   40 

 

 I am just concerned that there is a little bit of overlap and potential 

confusion between park management activities and facilities, public 

amenities, the two coastal definitions and potentially conservation 

activities.   45 
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MS CARTER:   I can certainly look at that - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could you have a look at that and make sure that they are not 

talking about exactly the same things but slightly different wording 

which could overlap and being used in separate chapters, everyone 5 

thinking that they are separate things when actually they are overlap of 

it? 

 

MS CARTER:   I can certainly have a look at that. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Public amenities in particular is the one that is very broad and 

then captures activities that are probably provided for in other 

definitions but has been written broadly for the purpose of the park 

management activities, I think.   

 15 

 The other one that I find – there are numerous references to walkways 

and cycleways, pedestrian, cycle tracks; there must be at least 10 

different ways of expressing pedestrian access or pedestrian tracks or 

cycle tracks or walkways and cycleways throughout many of the 

definitions and I wonder if that is something that could be just looked 20 

at to tidy up. 

 

 I am sure they have all been written at different times but it just seems 

odd to have so many different ways of expressing what I think is much 

the same thing in all instances. 25 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

MS CARTER:   I will have a look at that. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I think that is all from me.  Thank you, Ms Carter. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, afternoon, just a couple of further things.  So 35 

going back to that ancillary word again.  So if I am looking at a rule 

and it has the word “ancillary” in it, why can’t that word, ancillary, be 

hot-linked to whatever definition is in the plan? 

 

MS CARTER:   It can be.  You mean the definition that you have that it is - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I just want to understand the hot-linking issue that you 

mentioned before.  So if the word is in the rule as ancillary, no problem 

about hot-linking that to the definition? 

 45 

MS CARTER:   No. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And so I do not understand the problem that you have 

raised. 

 

MS CARTER:   Okay, so I am happy with the ordinary meaning, so it does not 5 

have to be underlined. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so it is not a substandard issue.  

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, so the definition we have - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when you say it does not have to be underlined – so 

coming back to that, in the rule the word “ancillary” is used, it would 

be underlined to be hot-linked?  Why would we not do that?  Why 

would the Plan not do that? 15 

 

MS CARTER:   Because it is relying on the ordinary meaning. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is not.  It is saying what it does not include as well, 

so it is qualifying the ordinary meaning - - - 20 

 

MS CARTER:   As well, but it is not qualifying - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, stop – stop for a minute otherwise we talk over each 

other. 25 

 

 So the plan defines something and it says it does not include these 

things, all right, so in other words it qualifies the ordinary meaning, 

doesn’t it? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   I would not have thought so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so it is a matter of legal submission.   

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If it does, if you are wrong about that, in other words the 

lawyers will say “yes, it does”, does your problem go away? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, okay.  So I just want to ask a couple of other 

things. 

 

 The best place to find this phrase I think is probably in motorised sports 45 

activity but I know that it pops up in other definitions, so if we go to 
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that and I mentioned this earlier on in questioning of Ms Sowerby, you 

will see the subordinate phrase by members of more than one 

residential unit.  And imagine a sports activity where, let’s say it is, I 

do not know, drifting, and we happen to have the best drifters 

proponents of that all in one flat in Christchurch, so they would not be 5 

undertaking a motorised sports activity because they happen to live in 

the same house, is that what that means? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well on the face of it, it is.  I did discuss this with a chapter 

leader for Open Space in the break because you raised it and it was 10 

intended to ensure that people doing their own thing in their own – so it 

is supposed to be permissive, but people doing their own thing in their 

own back yard would not get caught but I do not think it does that so I 

agree that there is a problem there. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It might need to be looked at.  So there are different 

definitions where it applies, so just an example.  

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then coming back through, I noticed for instance, we 

will pick on this because it does not use it but when I looked at where 

that other phrase like “minor sports activity” or whatever is undertaken, 

it always came back to within a facility or something to that effect, a 

sports facility, but this motorised sports activity does not refer to a 25 

motorised spots facility, should it? 

 

 In other words, should it say it is one of those activities undertaken in 

one of those types of facility? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   It is linked to the definition below motorised sports facility 

which says that means any building or structures - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, please answer the question in terms of consistency of 

drafting. 35 

 

 So if we come back though, just to give you an example, look at minor 

sports activity.  You will see what I mean now I think.  I think it is 

technical drafting, I do not think it is anything other than that but you 

can tell me if it is.  So minor sports activity, please. 40 

 

 Okay, so you will see there that happens within a minor sports facility, 

so if we go back to motorised sports activity, why doesn’t that say 

“within a motorised sports facility”? 

 45 

  [1.00 am] 
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MS CARTER:   Yes, right, there is an inconsistency between those definitions, 

yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that can be clarified? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in answer to Mr Neill, you added “truck” into A; 

what about motorised craft, i.e. boats whipping around inside a 10 

specially built facility, for instance, you see those ones where dig out a 

whole of gravel and you have got sort of a circuit where you rip round 

in a speedboat.  Is that intended to be caught? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think that the definitions of “motorised craft” is supposed to 15 

take that out of the definition of minor sports but I agree that it is not 

clear. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, if I want to do boat racing I should be treated like a 

motorised sports facility, is that the intention? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we have got this issue of “accessory and ancillary”.  

Just whipping back to the word “accessory”, so the next definition of 25 

motorised sports facility helps to illustrate this. 

 

 When I look at the term “accessory” in a context of the definition like 

“accessory building” somewhere else in the Plan, it uses in each case 

incidental to the principal building or say the activity is incidental to 30 

the principal activity so I take that to be the understood meaning of 

accessory in the context of that definition on the screen there, for 

instance, accessory building. 

 

 So, when I see the word “accessory”, coming back to motorised sports 35 

facility but there are multiple other examples of this, on page 70; is that 

word “accessory” intended to be incidental to the motorised sports 

facility? 

 

 See, “accessory mechanical workshops”, are those workshops that are 40 

incidental to the motorised sports facility just so I understand the 

meaning of the word. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, accessory to the motorised sports, yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:    I mean, from your point of view, do you think it is too 

subtle for the Plan – we may not be able to change this but I do wonder 

whether, in fact, it is being overly subtle to have “ancillary” in one 

place and “accessory” in another.  We had another explanation earlier 

that accessory has a meaning which perhaps expands on the primary 5 

activity in a way that ancillary doesn’t but it seems incredibly subtle 

and if that is what is meant, perhaps it should be defined. 

 

MS CARTER:   In this particular case, it is not underlined so you take the 

ordinary meaning of accessory but I agree that it is splitting hairs 10 

between ancillary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because whenever the word “accessory” is used in a 

definition every single time I have found it, it says “incidental to the 

principal” so it seems that somebody has taken that to be the ordinary 15 

meaning when they have come to define those terms. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, well, we will need to think about that one.  I do not 20 

know what the answer is as to whether it is too hard a problem to fix. 

 

 And finally, thanks, “ancillary buildings” in A and B, why are ancillary 

buildings going into A and B and not more generally?  Is there a 

reason, there might be a reason for that but I am struggling to see it? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   It was in response to a submission that we wanted to make it 

clear that ancillary buildings were included. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But perhaps from a wider drafting point of view it might 30 

be worth making sure the submission point is not lost, but maybe 

looking at the definition more broadly for drafting purposes. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, thank you very much for that. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill has another question. 

 

MR NEILL:   I have become confused about major and minor sports facilities 40 

so I am looking for clarification.  Can we start with major sports 

facilities. 

 

 I believed you do suggest that if you were not in the list, then it was not 

a major sports activity? 45 
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MS CARTER:   That was a discussion that I was having in that what could you 

do; you either rely on the list, or could you add others and the 

discussion I had with Ms Dawson was that that it could go either way.  

You could use the bit at the top to just about say anything, but then you 

have got these things at the bottom as well.  So no, I was not agreeing 5 

that it was just limiting it to the A to J, but that was one interpretation. 

 

MR NEILL:   I mean the major sports in this city are cricket, rugby, football 

and netball, and none of those are included in that list that is there. 

 10 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

MS CARTER:   The words “major sports” was not about how popular or how 

big the sport was, it is about the size of the facilities associated with it. 

 15 

MR NEILL:  But there is nothing there to define it.  If my memory records – 

and look, if I have got it wrong, please – but there was a thing about 

10,000 square metres and 10,000 square metres was seen to be a major 

sports facility and I may have got that wrong but we had the debate 

over the Elmwood Club and whether it is a major facility or a minor 20 

facility et cetera, so there was an area and look, whatever the area is, is 

the area but it is not shown there, why not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Because it is not specifically related to the 10,000.  It is used – 

and, in fact, that is why we are able to give Elmwood the relief, their 25 

site is only 6,000 but we are still saying that they can have a major 

sports facility on it. 

 

 So the split between the 10,000 was on the types of larger parks in the 

Open Space Community Parks zone and smaller parks that were less 30 

than that so the activities that you would provide for in those different 

parts of the Open Space Community Park zone would be related to the 

size of the site. 

 

 But generally speaking, you are correct; the bigger sites have been 35 

provided with the major sports facilities and the smaller sites generally 

haven’t and as I said, the exceptions that we have made as a result of 

submissions is Elmwood, which as a site would only be 6,000 square 

metres, Canterbury Sports’ site is very large so it is also for the Open 

Space Community zone has major sports facility as well rather than the 40 

Metropolitan zone. 

 

MR NEILL:   But in your list you have specifically referred to “athletics”.  The 

rest is sort of a bit global but athletics and golf driving ranges are 

specifically referred to there. 45 
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MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   But not rugby, cricket or football or netball. 

 

MS CARTER:   I would assume that there is something else there that you 5 

could relate to in terms of rugby such as a stadium or indoor sports and 

recreation facility so I agree that it would be difficult from that 

definition and I have sort of conceded that already with the discussion 

with Ms Dawson that something needs to happen to make these 

definitions more defined and clear that what is included and what is not 10 

included in terms of minor and major and that may include a discussion 

on rugby fields, netball courts.  Netball courts outdoor would be 

covered, I think, by minor sports but that is just my interpretation so I 

agree that there is room for discussion there. 

 15 

MR NEILL:   But if we take South Hagley Park which is a large rugby facility 

in that far corner every Saturday morning, is that a major sports facility 

or a minor sports facility? 

 

MS CARTER:   In terms of the definition at the moment I think it is a minor 20 

sports facility but I am agreeing with you that that needs to be looked 

at. 

 

MR NEILL:   But it does not come in BMX tracks, mountain bike tracks, 

ball courts, artificial playing surfaces, there are none of those in your 25 

minor sports. 

 

MS CARTER:   Informal and formal playing fields. 

 

MR NEILL:   Okay. 30 

 

MS CARTER:   But I do think that there are issues and I am prepared to have a 

look at that – and if it was a rugby stadium so it is a major sports 

facility, if it was a playing field it would be a minor sports facility 

according to these definitions. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   All right, I am still somewhat confused with the definitions but I 

cannot take it any further, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 40 

 

 Could you just scroll down a little so we get them both in.  I just want 

to follow on from the questions Ms Dawson put to you. 

 

 In the context of what we are dealing with here; to define is to give a 45 

concise meaning to a word or group of words, isn’t it? 
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MS CARTER:   It is. 

 

SJH:   But here it is just a cross-reference; “A major sports activity is one that 

takes place in a major sports facility.”  “A major sports facility is 5 

structures and land used for a major sports activity”.  There is, in fact, 

no definition whatever of either term, is there? 

 

MS CARTER:   No, I agree. 

 10 

SJH:   So, it really is, sorry to say this, rip it up and start with a blank sheet of 

paper again, isn’t it, for this one? 

 

 And I think minor, from the questions Mr Neill put, if we look at that, it 

starts to suffer from the same problem.  It has gone straight to the 15 

outcome you are seeking without actually striving to define in language 

what these things are. 

 

MS CARTER:   I accept that. 

 20 

SJH:   All right. So you’ll take that away? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Anything arising, Ms Limmer? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 

 30 

MS SCOTT:  No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Carter, you may stand down. We’ll just continue through 

given there’s only two more witnesses. I note the next one, there’s 

some Hands Off Hagley matter, so I will not leave but I will take no 35 

part in that and handover to Judge Hassan. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.10 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. I now call Ms McLaughlin. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, perhaps if I may seek leave to be excused? 

 

SJH:   Yes, you may be excused. 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you. 
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<ALISON McLAUGHLIN, affirmed [1.11 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.11 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good morning, your full name is Alison McLaughlin? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 

the first dated 24 February 2016, the second a statement of rebuttal 

evidence dated 10 March 2016? 

 10 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, that’s correct.  

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have any corrections you wish to make to either of those 

statements? 

 15 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   No, I do not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If you can confirm please that they are true and correct to the 

best of your knowledge and belief? 

 20 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Ms Scott, can I interrupt a minute? There is just one little 

thing that troubles me about Ms McLaughlin’s evidence, and you may 

be able to help with this, but at some stage Ms McLaughlin reports on 25 

mediation that took place with Hands Off Hagley, I think it might be in 

the rebuttal, and just on the face of reading it, it occurred to me that, at 

paragraph 5, just looking at that now, as to whether this evidence needs 

to be clarified, and that is why I am putting it to you now so you can 

ask the questions.  30 

 

 It says “the submitter statement includes text copies from the mediation 

report to identify some changes, I note those changes are not discussed 

in detail within the statement on the submissions. While I recognise 

mediation is without prejudice, I have responded”. That troubled me, 35 

that qualifier. In other words, I was not sure in reading that whether the 

evidence that follows intrudes into what is without prejudice 

discussion, in other words material within the discussion in mediation 

which should not be brought to our attention through evidence, or 

whether it actually is just reporting on the reports that came from 40 

mediation. If the latter, then it is fine, but it might be just the inelegance 

of that expression. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Sir, I suspect it is the latter and is related to matters which were 

discussed which were not within the scope of the submission. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN: All right, as long as it is, in other words, a party official 

report of mediation, and perhaps that question could be put for 

clarification so there is no confusion about that. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, and I will ask Ms McLaughlin to clarify that in her 5 

summary of evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So just first confirming your evidence, is that paragraph in 5.1 10 

correct before we confirm your evidence? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you. If you could proceed to present your highlights 15 

- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, no, you have not quite covered it. It might be 

correct, but can you help me understand whether that paragraph is 

referring just to the reported outcomes of mediation in the reports or is 20 

it going into the discussions that we are not privy to and nor should we 

receive information from you about? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:  There were three changes that were sought that were in 

the mediation report. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are only referring to the mediation report? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Also to the submitter statement that Hands Off Hagley 

filed. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but not to the content of the discussions? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Sorry, say again? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Not to the content of the discussions beyond those 

documents? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   No, no. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. If you could confirm that your evidence is true 

and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

 45 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, I do. 
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MS SCOTT:   If you could please present your highlights summary for the 

Panel and then remain seated to answer any questions. 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:  Good morning. My evidence for Chapter 2 relates to 5 

definitions relevant to the sections of the General Rules and Procedures 

Chapter, in which I presented evidence on behalf of the Council. This 

includes temporary activities, lighting and glare, scheduled activities, 

water bodies effects, sale of alcohol and other general rules, including 

new general rules sought by submitters. 10 

 

 Because of the range of topics, there are a number of relevant 

definitions which have been the subject of submissions, these are set 

out in section 2.3 of my evidence-in-chief. 

 15 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

 At the time of writing my evidence there were three outstanding areas 

of disagreement related to the definitions of springs, late nights and 

temporary activities in buildings. Agreement was reached in further 20 

discussions between the Council and Ngai Tahu on the definition of 

spring, and the agreed wording is provided in the joint memorandum 

filed yesterday. 

 

 There was some discussion in the central city and the general rules 25 

hearing about Pacific Park’s submission seeking a definition for late 

night in the context of sale of alcohol or the entertainment and 

hospitality precincts. I agree with the evidence in the central city 

hearing of Mr Stevenson for the Council and Mr Willis for the Crown, 

that this definition is not necessary. I agree that late night is context 30 

specific and depends on proximity to residential areas.  

 

 Section 6.9 includes rules that set out the hours after which licensed 

premises would be considered late night, therefore I do not think it is 

necessary to also define this term.  35 

 

 The last definition about which there was some disagreement is the 

temporary activities and buildings definition. One area relates to the 

inclusion of temporary military training activities in the definition. 

After further discussions with NZDF we have agreed to support a 40 

separate definition for temporary military training activities, and not to 

amend the definition for temporary activities in buildings. 

 

 The second area of disagreement for the definition of temporary 

activities and buildings relates to Hands Off Hagley’s submission 45 

seeking that the definition exclude car parking in Hagley Park. I do not 
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support the relief sought because I consider that the management of the 

effects of car parking for trees could be more effectively and efficiently 

achieved using other methods. 

 

 For example under the training and events in public places policy a 5 

permit would be required for any training or event not covered by a 

lease agreement, permitted applications generally require a traffic 

management plan. Under the general conditions in section 13, normal 

parking conditions apply unless an authorisation has been granted by 

the Council to deviate from those conditions. 10 

 

 The Council is required under section 41 of the Reserves Act to 

exercise its functions in compliance with the management plan for the 

reserve. The purpose of the management plan is to provide for the use, 

enjoyment, protection and preservation of the reserve. 15 

 

 I consider that it is possible for the Hagley Park Management Plan to 

identify appropriate areas for events and for overflow parking, and that 

the issue of the effects of parking on turfed areas or trees could be 

managed through other methods, rather than requiring a resource 20 

consent. This would be more consistent with the statement of 

expectations to rely on some of these consent processes, while other 

methods could manage the effects and to provide for a range of 

temporary activities as permitted activities. 

 25 

 Just briefly in response to the questions raised earlier, with respect to 

the temporary buildings and activities, in temporary activities and 

buildings definition, temporary buildings and activities was introduced 

in Stage 1 and only used once in respect of the temporary activities 

overlay in the Industrial Chapter for Lyttelton, that overlay was 30 

removed in mediation. None of the other Stage 1 Chapter’s or 

Decisions rely on temporary buildings and activities. 

 

 Section 6.4 under the earthquake recovery activities does reference 

temporary buildings, but it is clear in the context of those rules that this 35 

is the building itself and not the wider definition being relied on. I am 

not aware of any use of temporary buildings and activities, and 

therefore support deleting this definition in its entirety. 

 

 Chapter 6 does rely on temporary activities and buildings under the 40 

Stage 2 definition, which was notified with the rules. 

 

 Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Neill? 45 
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MR NEILL:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  Well, I think you might have just answered my question in 5 

your last little summary, thank you very much, but just – so I was 

initially concerned that, because I had not checked, that temporary 

buildings and activities was used as a sort of general rule throughout, I 

think Decision 3 and 9, but you are saying it is not, that it is only used 

that one time in Lyttelton, and has that even been deleted? 10 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, it is not relied on for section 6.4, which was 

Decision 2 and Decision 9. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so the various temporary activities that are provided for 15 

in those parts of Chapter 6 that came through those two Decisions, they 

use their own words and are more specific in what they mean in that for 

each different activity? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN:   Yes, they use the term temporary building, but it is very 20 

specifically the building itself, whereas the definition temporary 

buildings and activities includes a broad range of things, so I do not 

think that that definition was relied on in those instances. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And in that definition, I mean I know it is not used, but there 25 

was the A of the Stage 1 definition, which is temporary buildings 

ancillary to approve building or construction projects, is that – which 

does not appear the Stage 2 and 3 definition, but is that activity, like it 

is the whole temporary activities or relating to construction, is that 

adequately provided for through the rules with its own standalone 30 

wording that does not rely on either of these definitions? 

 

MS McLAUGHLIN: What I tried to do with the temporary provision buildings 

definition, is just step back and define the characteristics of those 

activities, rather than listing them more specifically than was done in 35 

the Stage 1 definition. 

 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

 So I think that the temporary construction buildings would qualify as 40 

having a limited duration permanent activity on the site and would not 

create lasting alteration or disturbance of the site and that therefore they 

would be a temporary activity and building. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and when you look at the rules they are adequately 45 

provided for without being singled out in this definition? 
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MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes, and the rules specify them as activity P1. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that is what I meant, yes, so that is good.  Similarly, this 

whole question where they have listed things like bazaars, and festivals 5 

and markets and public meetings; again you have tried not to list them 

like that, rely on the general definition and then when you look at the 

rules you can see how they are provided for adequately in your view? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   Yes, so that was the reason why I proposed the new 10 

definition was to move away from having a long list of activities and 

just focus on the characteristics and then in the rules themselves to list 

out those activities. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  And there will actually be no need to go 15 

back and make any alterations to the provisions you have already 

decided as a result of deleting the Stage 1 definition because it is not 

actually referred to at all anyway? 

 

MS MCLAUGHLIN:   No, I do not believe that it is used anywhere in the Plan. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, that is very helpful.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, Ms McLaughlin.  Ms Scott, any questions 

arising? 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you – back to you, Mr Chairman.  You are free to 

go, thank you. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.21 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now we come to Ms Dixon, thank you. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, I now call Ms Dixon. 
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<GLENDA DIXON, sworn [1.21 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.21 pm] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Good afternoon, Ms Dixon.  If you can confirm please your full 

name is Glenda Margaret Dixon? 

 5 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have prepared two statements of evidence for this hearing, 

one dated 24 February 2016, the second in rebuttal dated 10 March 

2016? 10 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Your qualifications and experience are set out in an earlier brief 

of evidence referred to which was presented in the Specific Purpose 15 

Stage 2 hearing? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Do you have any corrections you wish to make to your evidence? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   No I do not. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  If you could confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge. 25 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And present a brief highlights package and remain seated for 

any questions. 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Thank you.  I was the Chapter lead for all of the education 

related provisions of the Plan, and for the Specific Purpose Golf Resort 

Zone.  I also presented evidence on all of the airport related provisions 

in the Plan at the Chapter 6 hearings. 35 

 

 I have adopted relevant evidence filed in the context of hearings on 

those topics.  My evidence-in-chief is therefore limited to addressing 

outstanding matters on the following pairs of definitions: education 

activity and education facility; community activity and community 40 

facility; and spiritual activity and spiritual facility.  I also addressed the 

definitions of tertiary education and research activity; resort hotel and 

resort hotel bedroom; mass assembly of people, which was covered in 

more substance by Ms McLaughlin; and sensitive activities, where I 

provide both evidence-in-chief and rebuttal evidence, to give an 45 
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overview of all changes being made through various proposals to that 

definition. 

 

 Additionally in my rebuttal evidence I cover amendments still sought 

by Christchurch International Airport Limited to some of the airport 5 

related definitions.  Most of these definitions were originally covered in 

my earlier Chapter 6 evidence-in-chief on airport issues. 

 

 In respect of the airport related definitions, for bird strike risk activities 

Mr Bonis suggests a definition is required and I do not consider that 10 

one is necessary.  And we both consider that the definition of surface 

water management structure could be deleted if the bird strike rules in 

Chapter 18 were either to be deleted in favour of the Chapter 6 rules, or 

amended to use the terminology, stormwater detention or retention 

basins. 15 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 

 Both Mr Bonis and I are of the view that these two definitions, that is 

the bird strike risk and surface water management structures 20 

definitions, should be considered through the closing legal submissions 

and decision on Chapter 6 rather than through this hearing. 

 

 Finally, in relation to the airport, for the definition of trade and industry 

training facility, Mr Bonis is effectively stating that a small number of 25 

training activities should actually be included as noise sensitive 

activities rather than be excluded from this category.  I do not share this 

concern and have not recommended any changes to this definition.  My 

understanding is that there is agreement both from the CIAL to the 

definitions of airport operations and air noise boundary as they now 30 

stand. 

 

 With regard to the definition of sensitive activities, this is agreed 

between all the parties based on the Stage 1 decision version, although 

with two further wording additions.  However a more specific issue has 35 

now been raised informally by Transpower, which is that hospitals are 

not specifically listed as sensitive activities although they are included 

as sensitive activities, or sensitive land uses, in both the NPS on 

electricity transmission, and the NES. 

 40 

 While the definition of healthcare facilities in the Plan can be construed 

as including hospitals because of the wording physical and mental 

health services, hospitals are also separately defined in the revised 

definitions proposal. 

 45 
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 So I have no issue with specifically listing hospitals as an additional 

item in the first more general part of the definition of sensitive 

activities, so adding it specifically to that definition as a belts and 

braces approach.  That is all, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Ms Dixon. 

 

SJH:   Again I should just indicate I am recused from anything to do with the 

Airport. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, I raised with Ms Sowerby I think this definition that 

has been agreed in relation to the air noise boundary, which is the 

65 dBA noise contour or thereabouts.  Where instead of just saying the 

noise levels are such as being sufficiently high to require restrictions on 20 

land use, it goes, you have agreed, I presume with CIAL to specifically 

use the words “prohibition” on new noise sensitive activities. 

 

 I just want to ask you whether you think that that wording is starting to 

go as far as to being effectively a rule within a definition? 25 

 

MS DIXON:  Yes, I think that could be the case.  I guess what I was 

attempting to do there was to make sure that we were being factually 

correct, I did not think that restrictions was really a fair reflection of the 

situation in that area where people cannot apply for noise sensitive 30 

activities as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, because the rule is actually is one of the few prohibited 

activities? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So, I mean I am not wanting to be overly firm about this.  Do 

you think it matters or do you think erring on the side of a rule is more 

factually correct and it is better to have that wording in the definition 

rather than just having restrictions in the definition and then relying on 45 

the rule to bring in the prohibited nature of that restriction? 
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MS DIXON:   I think there is an option which is to not have that last sentence, 

to just stick with the first sentence because the first sentence is really 

the definition and the second sentence is really an explanation of what 

that does, what that air noise boundary means. 5 

 

 The reason that we put the second sentence in was that is the only noise 

contour that is not just a straight line, it is a composite line, it is a 65:95 

composite.  So it is just to effectively assist people to understand that it 

is not just a straight line and has a reason for being, in terms of how it 10 

is used in regard to land use. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the second sentence really is more of an explanation about 

what it is for rather than the definition? 

 15 

MS DIXON:   Yes, yes, that is right, so I mean one option could be to take out 

the whole of the second sentence. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Or even just express it as an explanation rather than being 

part of the definition? 20 

 

  [1.30 pm] 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes.  

 25 

MS DAWSON:   All right, well that is something that we could leave you to 

do. So, I mean maybe that is something that can be thought about a 

little bit more.   

 

 I have another question about noise, which has probably come up 30 

through – I don’t remember who it was that covered it, it wasn’t you 

but I am going to ask you anyway. 

 

 Is the definition of LAeq, and it came up – although LAeq is used 

generally throughout the Plan and general noise rules, which you 35 

haven’t covered, it came up as one of the options that was being 

considered for engine testing noise, and I just want to make sure that 

the definition, however it might be used, whether it does or doesn’t end 

up being used in relation to engine testing.  It just says there 

“continuous A-weighted sound level” and commonly referred to as 40 

“average” but it doesn’t refer to over a measurement period. 

 

MS DIXON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Does the Ldn definition, which is used more in relation Port 45 

noise, that specifically says over a measurement period, and I think 



 Page 92 

  

Ch2: Definitions (Part) Commenced 31.03.16 

both of them are over “a measurement period”, and what that 

measurement period is, whether it is 24 hours or a week or three 

months or one hour, makes quite a different to how they are measured.   

 

MS DIXON:   I accept that. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   That would be useful to have the similar wording to Ldn and 

LAq just to show that “a measurement period” needs to be expressed 

when it comes to the rules.  

 10 

MS DIXON:   Yes, although I guess there are choices as to what measurement 

period is depending on the context. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DIXON:   But yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But the rules could deal with that? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

 Now I asked earlier about preschools and preschool activity and 

preschool facility; have you been involved with that definition? 25 

 

MS DIXON:   Only peripherally, in terms of the education zones.  I think it 

was dealt with primarily in the Residential zones in the first case. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So are you able to tell me what the Council is proposing at 30 

the moment, given that the latest version includes the definition, which 

I think did come out at the residential, and then preschool, then 

preschool facility.  For the zones that you were dealing with, are the 

two in black there, the preschool activity and preschool facility are 

those the ones that you have used? 35 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, they are the Stage 2 Definitions.  I think the Council’s 

position was essentially that the Stage 2 Definitions should prevail if 

the Panel accepted that we should be consistent with the Education Act 

definition, and that does cause a little bit of an inconsistency with the 40 

Stage 1 residential use of that term.  It is only in regard to the – I think 

it is the four children situation, yes.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Four Children, yes.  So the two that you have been using, 

which in the context of the school’s education type zoning, they are 45 
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consistent with the Education Act, if that is considered to be important, 

and we want to have only one set of definitions not two - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   I think so. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   - - - then something needs to happen in retrofitting the Stage 

1? 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right, and there is use of the preschool with three 

children – no, sorry, more than four children in the Stage 1, so we need 10 

to consider the implications, the fact there will be an overlap for those 

four children between preschool and whatever the other activity is that 

- - -   

 

MS DAWSON:   The care of well there is actually a gap.   15 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you, well that is something to still sort out.  

Are you familiar with “mass assembly of people”? 20 

 

MS DIXON:   Slightly, in that it was defined in the context of airport 

protection surfaces, and particularly the REPA, so the runway end 

protection areas. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Do you if it used anywhere else in the Plan? 

 

MS DIXON:   No, I don’t think it is – I did check that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, because it has got an unusual definition that it says: 30 

“intended to attracted a group of people in numbers greater than would 

be anticipated for the activities provided for in that zone”. 

 

 And I suppose it depends a lot on what zone it is used in? 

 35 

MS DIXON:   That’s true, yes. 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   I mean if it was used in an Open Space zone for example, 40 

with a stadium, major sports facility even, you could expect to attract a 

lot of people, therefore that definition would not apply? 

 

MS DIXON:   That’s right.  I think it probably was developed, as I say in the 

context to of REPA’s; so we were talking Rural zones and things like 45 
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people in cars driving through the Rural zones, potentially an overlap 

with the MAIL site; so not Open Space zones as such. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just given that it is one of these ones that is worded broadly 

and could apply to any zone – particularly, I am thinking in the future, 5 

someone comes along with a Plan change, they pick up this definition 

and they go – oh, here’s a definition and it’s broadly used, you can use 

it somewhere else - - - 

 

MS DIXON:   That is right, and that is - -  10 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and actually it has only been thought of about a REPA 

over a rural zone? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes and it could benefit from that introduction, that specificity, 15 

because that is exactly what Hands Off Hagley did think that it could 

be applicable elsewhere.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  I mean you would need to double check that it is not 

being used somewhere else, of course, but could some sort of 20 

refinement be provided for that in relation to the REPA. 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, absolutely.   

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  I think I might have one other question 25 

for you – yes, resort apartments and resort hotels. 

 

 The resort hotel starts with the words: “for the purposes of the specific 

purpose golf resort zone”, but resort apartment doesn’t, and when you 

look at the definition of “resort apartment” it could be any apartment 30 

really.  It doesn’t distinguish itself at all as a resort. 

 

 And I do not know whether that is because it is used beyond the golf 

resort zone or whether those words have just been omitted from that 

definition.   35 

 

MS DIXON:   I think it is probably the latter.  It was probably the definition 

that was incorporated in the Plan via Plan Change 45, which is the 

lower 6 resort versus the Clearwater Resort, which uses the resort hotel 

definition, and it is probably just the inconsistency between the two.  I 40 

am not aware of any other part of the Plan where we talk about resorts.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so again because the wording of the definition itself 

could apply to just about any apartment - - - 

 45 

MS DIXON:   It probably does need to be limited, I think. 
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MS DAWSON:   Need to be limited.   

 

MS DIXON:   Yes, I do agree. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you for that.  Just a second, just let me just flick 

through my notes here. 

 

 Yes, that is all my questions for you, thank you very much Ms Dixon. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dixon, I have only got one follow-up issue, and you 

raise it in paragraph 4.1.8 of your rebuttal, and it is this definition of 

sensitive activities, which is on page 95, if we go to that.   15 

 

 Just while it is coming up on the screen, in your oral summary you 

mentioned Transpower’s submission seeking that hospital’s be added in 

terms of the fact that they are part of the National Policy Statement, 

reference to sensitive activities, and your suggestion was that you 20 

would not oppose, therefore that being added to the first part of this 

definition. 

 

 But if we look at the second part, beginning, “but excludes in relation 

to airport noise” – then isn’t there a need also to think about the second 25 

part of the definition, if it is going into the first? 

 

 In other words, if it is going into the first part of the definition we need 

to make sure we don’t include it in regard to airport noise beyond the 

intentions that are expressed in the second part, would you agree? 30 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now appreciating that this definition is before us now on 

the basis of a consensus reached with the Airport, so there may be a 35 

need for further discussion amongst the relevant parties on that point, 

and also at this point – again appreciating this is probably a committee 

job, but we have got the word “including in A, and include in D” – you 

see that? 

 40 

MS DIXON:   Mm. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well then noting that, my understanding of the 

intention of D is that that word “include” is more akin to “provide for”, 

in other words, as I understand it anyway, healthcare facilities are 45 
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caught by D if they provide for accommodation for overnight care, is 

that right? 

 

MS DIXON:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When it says included “include accomodation for 

overnight care” in other words we mean beds for the patients to sleep in 

more or less? 

 

MS DIXON:   Effectively. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Ms Scott? 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dixon you may stand down and we will adjourn until 

10.00 am tomorrow. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.40 pm] 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.40 PM UNTIL 

FRIDAY, 1 APRIL 2016 


